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Independent auditor’s report 
To the Shareholders of WSP Global Inc. 

Our opinion 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of WSP Global Inc. and its subsidiaries, (together, the Corporation) as at December 
31, 2018 and 2017, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

What we have audited 
The Corporation's consolidated financial statements comprise: 

 the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2018 and 2017; 

 the consolidated statements of earnings for the years then ended; 

 the consolidated statements of comprehensive income for the years then ended; 

 the consolidated statements of changes in equity for the years then ended; 

 the consolidated statements of cash flows for the years then ended; and 

 the notes to consolidated financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting 
policies. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit 
of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 

Independence 
We are independent of the Corporation in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to 
our audit of the consolidated financial statements in Canada. We have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

Other information 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Management's 
Discussion and Analysis, which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor's report and the information, 
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report thereon, included in the annual 
report, which is expected to be made available to us after that date. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
and will not express an opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
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In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of 
this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. When we read the information, other 
than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report thereon, included in the annual report, 
if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to 
those charged with governance. 

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the 
consolidated financial statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary 
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Corporation's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate 
the Corporation or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Corporation’s financial reporting 
process.  

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as 
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 
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 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Corporation’s internal control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Corporation’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our 
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
Corporation to cease to continue as a going concern.  

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Corporation to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. 
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit. 
  
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards. 
 
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Michael Trudeau. 
 

 
 
Montréal, Quebec 
March 13, 2019 

                                                             
1 CPA auditor, CA, public accountancy permit No. A no A113048 
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2018 2017
Assets $ $

Current assets

Cash (note 6) 254.7 185.1
Restricted cash 5.0 6.8
Trade, prepaids and other receivables (note 7) 1,857.6 1,554.7
Income taxes receivable 13.6 18.0
Cost and anticipated profits in excess of billings  (note 8) 1,116.1 905.0

3,247.0 2,669.6
Non-current assets

Other assets (note 9) 192.0 113.0
Deferred income tax assets (note 23) 116.1 91.4
Property and equipment (note 10) 350.6 315.4
Intangible assets (note 11) 367.7 355.2
Goodwill (note 12) 3,493.2 2,979.0
Total assets 7,766.6 6,523.6

Liabilities and equity

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 14) 1,787.5 1,361.9
Billings in excess of costs and anticipated profits (note 8) 678.3 483.8
Income taxes payable 52.1 47.9
Dividends payable to shareholders (note 24) 39.2 38.7
Current portion of long-term debts (note 15) 42.3 276.3
Other current financial liabilities (note 16) 14.5 45.8

2,613.9 2,254.4
Non-current liabilities

Long-term debts (note 15) 1,461.2 882.4
Other non-current financial liabilities (note 16) 6.7 25.4
Provisions (note 14) 153.1 121.2
Retirement benefit obligations (note 17) 197.7 206.7
Deferred income tax liabilities (note 23) 74.3 74.5
Total liabilities 4,506.9 3,564.6

Equity

Equity attributable to shareholders

Share capital (note 18) 2,656.5 2,577.4
Contributed surplus 204.9 204.2
Accumulated other comprehensive income 216.3 86.0
Retained earnings 181.3 91.4

3,259.0 2,959.0
Non-controlling interest 0.7 —
Total equity 3,259.7 2,959.0
Total liabilities and equity 7,766.6 6,523.6
Commitments and contingencies (note 28)

Approved by the Board of Directors

(signed) Alexandre L'Heureux Director (signed) Louis-Philippe Carrière Director
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2018 2017

$ $

Revenues (note 20) 7,908.1 6,942.2

Personnel costs 4,567.1 4,112.9
Subconsultants and direct costs 1,887.5 1,585.6
Occupancy costs 258.9 227.8
Other operational costs 538.3 473.6
Acquisition and integration costs  (note 21) 62.3 28.4
Depreciation of property and equipment 91.8 79.6
Amortization of intangible assets 102.6 89.2
Exchange loss (gain) 2.3 (6.9)
Share of income of associates and joint ventures (net of tax) (0.8) (0.3)

Total net operational costs 7,510.0 6,589.9

Net finance expenses (note 22) 68.8 36.9

Earnings before income taxes 329.3 315.4

Income-tax expense (note 23) 80.5 102.1

Net earnings for the period 248.8 213.3

Net earnings attributable to:

Shareholders 248.1 213.3
Non-controlling interests 0.7 —

248.8 213.3

Basic net earnings per share attributable to shareholders 2.38 2.08

Diluted net earnings per share attributable to shareholders 2.38 2.08

Basic weighted average number of shares 104,150,041 102,448,943

Diluted weighted average number of shares 104,392,368 102,576,410
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2018 2017

$ $

Comprehensive income

Net earnings for the period 248.8 213.3

Other comprehensive income, net of tax

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to net earnings

Currency translation adjustments (net of tax expense/
(recovery) of $8.4 (($5.0) in 2017)) 168.2 (73.9)

Fair value re-evaluations – available-for-sale assets (net of tax
expense/(recovery) of nil ($2.1 in 2017)) — 5.7

Translation adjustments on financial instruments designated as
net investment hedge (net of tax expense/(recovery) of
($7.5) ($4.0 in 2017)) (48.3) 25.6

Items that will not be reclassified to net earnings

Actuarial gain/(loss) on pension schemes (net of tax expense/
(recovery) of $3.1 (($3.4) in 2017)) 9.4 (4.2)

Total comprehensive income for the period 378.1 166.5

Comprehensive income attributable to:

Shareholders 377.4 166.5

Non-controlling interests 0.7 —

378.1 166.5
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Attributable to Shareholders

Share
capital

$

Contributed 
Surplus

$

Retained   
earnings 

$ 

Accumulated  
other   

comprehensive 
income  

$ 
Total 

$ 

Non-   
controlling    

interests  
$  

Total  
equity 

$ 

Balance - January 1,
2017 2,491.6 203.3 31.9 132.8 2,859.6 0.9 2,860.5

Common shares issued
under the DRIP
(note 18) 82.7 — — — 82.7 — 82.7

Exercise of stock 
options (note 18) 3.1 (0.5) — — 2.6 — 2.6

Stock-based
compensation
expense (note 13) — 1.4 — — 1.4 — 1.4

Comprehensive
income

Net earnings for the
period — — 213.3 — 213.3 — 213.3

Actuarial gain/(loss) on
pension schemes
(net of tax) — — — (4.2) (4.2) — (4.2)

Currency translation
adjustments (net of
tax) — — — (73.9) (73.9) — (73.9)

Fair value re-
evaluations –
available-for-sale
assets (net of tax) — — — 5.7 5.7 — 5.7

Net investment hedge
(net of tax) — — — 25.6 25.6 — 25.6

Total comprehensive
income — — 213.3 (46.8) 166.5 — 166.5

Declared dividends to
shareholders — — (153.8) — (153.8) — (153.8)

Disposal of subsidiary — — — — — (0.9) (0.9)

Balance - December
31, 2017 2,577.4 204.2 91.4 86.0 2,959.0 — 2,959.0
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Attributable to Shareholders

Share
capital

$

Contributed 
Surplus

$

Retained 
earnings

$ 

Accumulated  
other   

comprehensive 
income  

$ 
Total 

$ 

Non-   
controlling    

interests  
$  

Total  
equity 

$ 

Balance - December
31, 2017 2,577.4 204.2 91.4 86.0 2,959.0 — 2,959.0

Adjustment to opening
balances -
Adoption of IFRS 9
(note 2) — — (1.0) 1.0 — — —

Common shares issued
under the DRIP
(note 18) 77.4 — — — 77.4 — 77.4

Exercise of stock
options (note 18) 1.7 (0.3) — — 1.4 — 1.4

Stock-based
compensation
expense (note 13) — 1.0 — — 1.0 — 1.0

Comprehensive
income

Net earnings for the
period — — 248.1 — 248.1 0.7 248.8

Actuarial gain/(loss) on
pension schemes
(net of tax) — — — 9.4 9.4 — 9.4

Currency translation
adjustments (net of
tax) — — — 168.2 168.2 — 168.2

Net investment hedge
(net of tax) — — — (48.3) (48.3) — (48.3)

Total comprehensive
income — — 248.1 129.3 377.4 0.7 378.1

Declared dividends to
shareholders (note
24) — — (156.0) — (156.0) — (156.0)

Purchase of non-
controlling interest — — (1.2) — (1.2) — (1.2)

Balance - December
31, 2018 2,656.5 204.9 181.3 216.3 3,259.0 0.7 3,259.7
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2018 2017

$ $

Operating activities

Net earnings for the period 248.8 213.3

Adjustments  (note 25a)) 171.1 139.7

Income tax expense (note 23) 80.5 102.1

Income taxes paid (73.9) (58.8)

Net finance expenses  (note 22) 68.8 36.9

Change in non-cash working capital items  (note 25b)) 174.4 (37.8)

Net cash generated from (used in) operating activities 669.7 395.4

Financing activities

Dividends paid to shareholders (78.1) (70.4)

Net variation in long-term debts  (note 25 c)) 217.7 66.8

Net variation in other financial liabilities (4.2) (15.1)

Finance expenses paid and financing costs (59.1) (36.5)

Issuance of common shares, net of issuance costs 1.4 2.6

Net cash generated from (used in) financing activities 77.7 (52.6)

Investing activities

Business acquisitions (note 4) (556.7) (291.9)

Additions to property and equipment (98.1) (79.7)

Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment 4.5 4.8

Additions to intangible assets (28.7) (24.4)

Other 0.9 (3.3)

Net cash  generated from (used in) investing activities (678.1) (394.5)

Effect of exchange rate change on cash 6.0 (0.2)

Net change in cash 75.3 (51.9)

Cash, net of bank overdraft (note 6) – Beginning of period 178.6 230.5

Cash, net of bank overdraft (note 6) - End of period 253.9 178.6
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1 BUSINESS DESCRIPTION
WSP Global Inc. (the “Corporation” or “WSP”) is a professional services consulting firm which provides technical expertise 
and strategic advice to clients in the transportation & infrastructure, property & buildings, environment, industry, resources 
(including mining and oil and gas) and energy sectors. The Corporation also offers highly specialized services in project and 
program delivery and advisory services. The address of its main registered office is 1600, René-Lévesque Boulevard West, 
Montreal, Quebec. 

The common shares of the Corporation are listed under the trading symbol "WSP" on the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”). 

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”) and IFRS Interpretation Committee Interpretations (‘IFRC IC’) as issued by the IASB and Part I of the CPA Handbook - 
Accounting. These financial statements were prepared on a going concern basis, under the historical cost convention, as 
modified by the revaluation of certain financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through the consolidated 
statement of earnings and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

These financial statements were approved by the Corporation’s Board of Directors on March 13, 2019.

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS EFFECTIVE IN 2018

ADOPTION OF IFRS 9 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Corporation has adopted all of the requirements of IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments, as at January 1, 2018, with the exception 
of those pertaining to hedge accounting.   IFRS 9 -Financial Instruments permits the continued usage of the criteria of IAS 39 - 
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement for hedge accounting, which the Corporation has elected to do so.
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The table below summarizes the classification and measurement of the Corporation’s financial instruments accounted as 
under IFRS 9 -Financial Instruments as compared to the Corporation’s previous policy in accordance with IAS 39 - Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.

Classification and measurement
IAS 39

December 31, 2017
IFRS 9

January 1, 2018

Assets

Cash Amortized cost Amortized cost
Restricted Cash Amortized cost Amortized cost

Trade receivables, other receivables, amounts due from joint
ventures and associates undertaking and costs and anticipated
profits in excess of billings

Amortized cost Amortized cost

Other Assets (previously Financial Assets Available for sale)
Fair value through other
comprehensive income

(FVOCI)
Fair value through profit or

loss (FVTPL)

Derivatives Fair value through profit or
loss (FVTPL)

Fair value through profit or
loss (FVTPL)

Liabilities

Accounts payables and accrued liabilities, excluding provisions Amortized cost Amortized cost
Dividends payable to shareholders Amortized cost Amortized cost
Long-term debt related to credit facility and other debts
(including current portion) Amortized cost Amortized cost

Other financial liabilities (long and short term) Amortized cost Amortized cost

Derivatives Fair value through profit or
loss (FVTPL)

Fair value through profit or
loss (FVTPL)

IFRS 9 -Financial Instruments uses a single approach to determine whether a financial asset is classified and measured at 
amortized cost or fair value.  The approach in IFRS 9 -Financial Instruments is based on how an entity manages its financial 
instruments and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.

Financial liabilities (excluding derivatives) are derecognized when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, 
canceled or expired.  For financial liabilities, IFRS 9 -Financial Instruments retains most of the IAS 39 - Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement requirements.

Under IFRS 9 -Financial Instruments, changes in fair value of other assets previously classified as financial assets available for 
sale no longer flow through the statement of comprehensive income but rather through the statement of earnings, under 
the caption net finance expenses.

IFRS 9 -Financial Instruments does not require restatement of comparative periods.  Accordingly, the Corporation has reflected 
the retrospective impact of the adoption of IFRS 9 -Financial Instruments, in line with the table below, as an adjustment to 
opening components of equity as at January 1, 2018.
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The following table summarizes the adjustments, net of tax, made to the Corporation’s opening components of equity as a 
result of the adoption of IFRS 9 -Financial Instruments.

December 31, 2017 January 1, 2018
IAS 39 Adjustments IFRS 9

Equity

Retained Earnings 91.4 (1.0) 90.4
Accumulated other comprehensive
income 86.0 1.0 87.0

Impact on equity -

IFRS 9 -Financial Instruments also introduced a single expected credit loss impairment model, which is based on changes in 
credit quality since initial recognition.  The Corporation elected to apply the simplified approach to measuring expected 
credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receivables and contract assets (costs and anticipated 
profits in excess of billings).

To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables and contract assets have been grouped based on shared credit risk 
characteristics.  The contract assets related to costs and anticipated profits in excess of billings and have substantially all the 
same risk characteristics as the trade receivables for the same types of contracts.  The Corporation has therefore concluded 
that the expected loss rates for trade receivables are a reasonable approximation of the loss rates for the contract assets.

The adoption of the expected credit loss impairment model did not have a significant impact on the Corporation's financial 
statements.

DEFERRED FINANCING FEES

Deferred financing fees are capitalized and amortized over the life of the credit facility agreement.

DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUE

The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount of consideration that would be agreed to be received to sell an asset or 
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Subsequent to 
initial recognition, the fair values of financial instruments that are quoted in active markets are based on bid prices for 
financial assets held and offer prices for financial liabilities. When independent prices are not available, fair values are 
determined by using valuation techniques that refer to observable market inputs and minimizing the use of unobservable 
inputs.

OFFSETTING FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statements of financial position when 
there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or 
realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS- POLICY APPLICABLE PRIOR TO JANUARY 1, 2018

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value, and their subsequent measurements are 
dependent on their classification, as described below. The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial 
instruments were acquired or issued, their characteristics and the Corporation’s designation of such instruments.

LOANS AND RECEIVABLES

Trade and other receivables and costs and anticipated profits in excess of billings are classified as loans and receivables. 
Financial assets classified as loans and receivables are accounted for at amortized cost using the effective interest rate 
method less any impairment loss.

AVAILABLE FOR SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

Financial assets available for sale are non-derivatives, are carried at their fair value and recorded in non-current assets, 
unless it is anticipated that they will be sold within twelve months of the statement of financial position date. Realized gains 
or losses arising from changes in the fair value of available for sale assets are included in the consolidated statement of 
earnings in the period in which they are realized. Unrealized gains and losses are recorded in other comprehensive income.

OTHER LIABILITIES

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities, dividends payable to shareholders, long-term debts, and other financial liabilities 
are classified as other liabilities and are recorded at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.

DEFERRED FINANCING FEES

Deferred financing fees are capitalized and amortized over the life of the credit facilities agreement.

DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUE

The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount of consideration that would be agreed to be received to sell an asset or 
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Subsequent to 
initial recognition, the fair values of financial instruments that are quoted in active markets are based on bid prices for 
financial assets held and offer prices for financial liabilities. When independent prices are not available, fair values are 
determined by using valuation techniques that refer to observable market inputs and minimizing the use of unobservable 
inputs.

OFFSETTING FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statements of financial position when 
there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or 
realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.



WSP GLOBAL INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017
(in millions of Canadian dollars, except the number of shares and per share data and unless otherwise stated)

WSP

2018 Consolidated Financial Statements

Page 15

ADOPTION OF IFRS 15 - REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

IFRS 15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers specifies how and when to recognize revenues as well as requiring more 
informative and relevant disclosures.  IFRS 15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers superseded IAS 18 - ‘Revenue’, IAS 11 - 
‘Construction Contracts’, and other revenue recognition related interpretations.

The Corporation adopted IFRS 15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers on January 1, 2018, using the retrospective method 
with cumulative effect to the opening retained earnings as permitted by IFRS 15.  The adoption of this standard did not result 
in a change in revenues amount compared to prior periods and therefore had no impact on the opening retained earnings of 
the current period.

The Corporation updated and implemented revised procedures and controls to meet the requirements of IFRS 15 - Revenue 
from Contracts with Customers. Additional disclosures required by the adoption of this new standard can be found in notes 8 
and 20.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

The Corporation derives revenues from the delivery of engineering services.  If the Corporation has recognized revenues, 
but not issued an invoice, then the entitlement to consideration is recognized as a contract asset presented as Costs and 
anticipated profits in excess of billings on the Corporation’s consolidated statement of financial position.  The contract asset 
is transferred to trade receivables when the invoice is issued indicating that the entitlement to payment has become 
unconditional.  If payments are received, or invoices are issued to a customer, prior to the rendering of services, the 
Corporation recognizes a contract liability under the caption Billings in excess of costs and anticipated profits on the 
Corporation’s consolidated statement of financial position. The contract liability is transferred to revenues once related 
services have been deemed rendered.

Revenues are measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer. The Corporation typically 
recognizes revenues over time, using an input measure, as it fulfills its performance obligations in line with contracted 
terms.

A performance obligation is a promise in the contract to transfer a distinct good or service to the customer.  A contract’s 
transaction price is allocated to each distinct performance obligation and recognized as revenues when, or as, the 
performance obligation is satisfied.  Most of the Corporation’s contracts have a single performance obligation as the promise 
to transfer individual goods or services is not separately identifiable from other promises in the contracts and, therefore, not 
distinct.  Any modifications or variations to contracts in progress are assessed to determine if they fall under the scope of the 
existing contract performance obligation or form part of a new performance obligation.

The Corporation's revenues are derived mainly from three types of contracts, as noted below, however, it disaggregates its 
revenues by market sector and client category (see note 20).

Revenues (and profits) from cost-plus contracts with ceilings and from fixed-price contracts are recognized progressively 
based on a percentage-of-completion method, which is calculated on the ratio of contract costs incurred to total anticipated 
costs.

Revenues (and profits) from cost-plus contracts without stated ceilings are recognized when costs are incurred and are 
calculated based on billing rates for the services performed.

Certain costs incurred by the Corporation for subconsultants and other expenses that are recoverable directly from 
customers are billed to them and therefore are included in revenues. The value of goods and services purchased by the 
Corporation, when acting as a purchasing agent for a customer, are not recorded as revenues.
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The effect of revisions to estimate revenues and costs, including the impact from any modifications or variations to 
contracts in progress, are recorded when the amounts are known and can be reasonably estimated. These revisions can 
occur at any time and could be significant. Where total contract costs exceed total contract revenues, the expected loss is 
recognized as an expense immediately via a provision for losses to completion, irrespective of the stage of completion and 
based on a best estimate of forecast results including, where appropriate, rights to additional income or compensation (e.g. 
award or incentive fees).

The Corporation's main market sectors, for purposes of note disclosure required by the adoption of IFRS 15 - Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers, (see note 20) are as follows: Transportation & Infrastructure, Property & Buildings, Environment, 
Industry, Resources (including mining, oil and gas) and Energy.

Revenues generated from contracts where the end user of services provided is identified to be a public sector related entity 
are classified as public sector revenues. Entities controlled by any branch of government would be considered public entities.

Revenues generated from contracts where the end user of services provided is not identified as a public-sector related entity 
are classified as private sector revenues.

Revenues are shown net of value-added tax and after eliminating sales within the Corporation.

REVENUE RECOGNITION - POLICY APPLICABLE PRIOR TO JANUARY 1, 2018

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of services in the ordinary course of 
the Corporation’s activities. Revenue is shown net of value-added tax and after eliminating sales within the group.

The Corporation recognizes revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, when it is probable that future 
economic benefits will flow to the entity and when specific criteria have been met for each of the Corporation’s activities as 
described below. The Corporation bases its estimates on historical results, taking into consideration the type of customer, 
the type of transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.

Revenues and profits from cost-plus contracts with ceilings and from fixed-price contracts are accounted for using the 
percentage-of-completion method, which is calculated on the ratio of contract costs incurred to total anticipated costs.

Revenues and profits from cost-plus contracts without stated ceilings and from short-term projects are recognized when 
costs are incurred and are calculated based on billing rates for the services performed.

Certain costs incurred by the Corporation for subconsultants and other expenses that are recoverable directly from clients 
are billed to them and therefore are included in revenues. The value of goods and services purchased by the Corporation, 
when acting as a purchasing agent for a client, is not recorded as revenues.

The effect of revisions to estimate revenues and costs is recorded when the amounts are known and can be reasonably 
estimated. These revisions can occur at any time and could be significant. Where total contract costs exceed total contract 
revenues, the expected loss is recognized as an expense immediately via a provision for losses to completion, irrespective of 
the stage of completion and based on a best estimate of forecast results including, where appropriate, rights to additional 
income or compensation, where they are probable and can be determined reliably.
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CONSOLIDATION, JOINT ARRANGEMENTS AND ASSOCIATES

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Corporation and its subsidiaries.

Non-controlling interests represent equity interests in subsidiaries owned by outside parties. The share of net assets of 
subsidiaries, attributable to non-controlling interests, is disclosed as a component of equity. Their share of net earnings and 
comprehensive income is recognized directly in equity. Changes in the parent Corporation’s ownership interest in 
subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions.

All intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated.

SUBSIDIARIES

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Corporation has control.   The Corporation 
controls an entity when the Corporation is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity 
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.  Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the 
date on which control is obtained by the Corporation.  They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.  

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealized gains/losses on transactions between the Corporation's companies are 
eliminated.  When necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries have been adjusted to conform to the Corporation’s 
accounting policies.

JOINT ARRANGEMENTS 

Joint arrangements are classified as either joint operations or joint ventures. The determination of whether an arrangement 
is a joint operation or joint venture is based on the rights and obligations arising from the contractual obligations between 
the parties to the arrangement. Joint arrangements that provide the Corporation with the rights to the individual assets and 
obligations arising from the arrangement are classified as joint operations and joint arrangements that provide the 
Corporation with rights to the net assets of the arrangement are classified as joint ventures.

The interests in joint arrangements that are classified as joint operations are accounted for by the Corporation recording its 
pro rata share of the assets, liabilities, revenues, costs and cash flows using the most recent financial statements of these 
joint arrangements available.

The interests in joint arrangements that are classified as joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method and 
disclosed as an investment in the statements of financial position.

ASSOCIATES

Associates are all entities over which the Corporation has significant influence but not control. Investments in associates are 
accounted for using the equity method.
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FOREIGN CURRENCY 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is WSP’s functional currency.

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Corporation's subsidiaries are measured using the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”). Foreign currency transactions are 
translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign 
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets 
and liabilities not denominated in the functional currency of an entity are recognized in the consolidated statements of 
earnings, except when deferred in other comprehensive income as qualifying for net investment hedges. Foreign exchange 
gains and losses that relate to borrowings and cash are disclosed within finance expenses.

Assets and liabilities of entities with functional currencies other than the Canadian dollar are translated at the period-end 
rates of exchange, and the results of their operations are translated at average rates of exchange for the period. The 
resulting changes are recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income in equity as currency translation 
adjustments.

SEGMENT REPORTING 

Segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker. 
The chief operating decision-maker is responsible for allocating resources and assessing the performance of the reportable 
segments and has been identified as the global leadership team ("GLT"). The Corporation manages through four reportable 
segments, which are the following: Canada, Americas (USA and Latin America), EMEIA (Europe, Middle East, India and Africa) 
and APAC (Asia Pacific – comprising Asia, Australia and New Zealand).

PERSONNEL COSTS

Personnel costs include all payroll costs relating to the delivery of consulting services and projects and administrative 
salaries, such as finance, information technologies, human resources and communications.

SUBCONSULTANTS AND DIRECT COSTS

Subconsultants and direct costs include subconsultant costs and other direct costs incurred to deliver consulting services 
and that are recoverable directly from the clients.

OTHER OPERATIONAL COSTS 

Other operational costs include but are not limited to fixed costs, such as non-recoverable client services costs, technology 
costs, professional services costs and insurance.
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ACQUISITION AND INTEGRATION COSTS

Acquisition and integration costs are items of financial performance which the Corporation believes should be separately 
identified on the face of the consolidated statement of earnings to assist in understanding its operating financial 
performance.

Acquisition and integration costs include the following:

• Transaction costs related to business acquisitions (successful or not)

• Costs of integrating newly acquired businesses (up to 24 months from date of acquisition)

• IT outsourcing program costs -  these costs pertain mainly to non-recurring redundancy and transition costs 
resulting from the Corporation outsourcing its IT infrastructure and operations support. 

• Past service cost related to legacy UK-based defined benefit pension plans (see note 17)

The above are examples; however, from time to time, it may be appropriate to disclose other items under this caption in 
order to highlight the operating financial performance of the Corporation.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES

Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently re-
measured at their fair value. The method of recognizing the resulting gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is 
designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged. The Corporation designates certain 
derivatives as either:

(a) hedges of the fair value of recognized assets and liabilities or a firm commitment (fair value hedge);

(b) hedges of a particular risk associated with a recognized asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction    
 (cash flow hedge); or

(c) hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation (net investment hedge).

The Corporation documents at the inception of the transaction the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged 
items, as well as its risk management objectives and strategy for undertaking various hedging transactions. The Corporation 
also documents its assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in 
hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items.

FAIR VALUE HEDGE

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the consolidated 
statements of earnings together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the 
hedge risk.  

CASH FLOW HEDGE

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is 
recognized in other comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognized immediately in 
the consolidated statements of earnings.
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Amounts accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss. 
However, when the forecast transaction that is hedged results in the recognition of a non-financial asset, the gains and 
losses previously deferred in equity are transferred from equity and included in the initial measurement of the cost of the 
asset.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any 
cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognized when the forecast transaction is 
ultimately recognized in the consolidated statements of earnings. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to 
occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in equity is immediately transferred to the consolidated statements of 
earnings.

NET INVESTMENT HEDGE

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations are accounted for similarly to cash flow hedges.

Any gain or loss on the hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge is recognized in other 
comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognized in the consolidated statements of 
earnings.

Gains and losses accumulated in equity are transferred to the consolidated statements of earnings if a foreign operation is 
disposed of, partially or in it entirety.

CASH

Cash consists of cash on hand and balances with banks. For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash is net of bank 
overdraft.

TRADE RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for the rendering of services in the ordinary course of business. Trade 
receivables are classified as current assets if payment is due within one year or less. Trade receivables are recognized 
initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost, less allowance for expected credit losses.

INVESTMENTS 

Investment held in a jointly controlled entity is accounted for using the equity method. Investments in securities are 
accounted for at fair value with unrealized gains or losses recognized in consolidated statement of earnings. Investments in 
associates are accounted for using the equity method.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment are recorded at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 
Historical cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount when it is probable that future economic benefits associated 
with the item will flow to the Corporation and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and 
maintenance costs are charged to the consolidated statement of earnings during the period in which they are incurred.
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Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the methods described below to allocate their cost 
to their residual values over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation 
methods are reviewed at each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimates accounted for on a prospective 
basis.

The following table summarizes the depreciation methods, rates and periods used:

Methods Rates and periods

Buildings Declining balance 1% to 4%
Leasehold improvements Straight-line Lease term
Furniture and equipment Straight line/Declining balance 3 to 10 years
Computer equipment Straight-line/Declining balance 3 to 8 years

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property and equipment is determined as the difference 
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognized in the consolidated statement of earnings 
within other operational costs.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

SOFTWARE 

Software acquired separately from a business acquisition are carried at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated 
impairment losses. 

INTANGIBLE ASSETS ACQUIRED IN BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS

Intangible assets acquired in business combinations consist of software, customer relationships, contract backlogs, trade 
names,  and non-competition agreements. They are recognized separately from goodwill and are initially recognized at their 
fair value at the acquisition date. They are carried at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment 
losses. 

AMORTIZATION

Software, contract backlogs, customer relationships, certain trade names and non-competition agreements are considered 
intangible assets with finite useful lives. Based on the strength, long history and expected future use, certain trade names are 
indefinite-lived intangible assets. The useful life of intangible assets that are not being amortized is reviewed each reporting 
period to determine whether events and circumstances continue to support an indefinite useful life assessment. If not, the 
change in the assessment from indefinite to finite will be accounted for as a change in accounting estimates.
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Intangible assets are amortized as follows:

Method Periods
Software Straight-line 3 to 7 years
Contract backlogs Straight-line 1 to 9 years
Customer relationships Straight-line 2 to 14 years
Trade names Straight-line 3 to 8 years
Non-competition agreements Straight-line 3 to 5 years

IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS

Long-lived assets with finite useful lives are reviewed for impairment when events or circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. Indefinite-lived assets are not subject to amortization but are tested for 
impairment on an annual basis on the first day of the Corporation's fourth quarter, or more frequently if events or 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Impairment exists when the recoverable amount of 
an asset is less than its carrying value. The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell 
("FVLCS") and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there 
are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating unit or “CGU”). The amount of impairment loss, if any, is the excess of 
the carrying value over its recoverable amount. Assets other than goodwill that have suffered impairment are reviewed for 
possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

GOODWILL

Goodwill represents the excess of the consideration transferred for the acquired businesses over the estimated fair value at 
the acquisition date of net identifiable assets acquired. Goodwill is not subject to amortization and is carried at cost less 
accumulated impairment loss but is tested for impairment on an annual basis or more frequently if events or circumstances 
indicate that it might be impaired. 

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each CGU expected to benefit from the synergies of the 
combination. CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated are tested for impairment annually on the first day of the 
Corporation's fourth quarter, or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be 
recoverable. If the higher of the recoverable amount of the CGU's fair value less costs to sell (FVLCS), or its value in use is less 
than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to 
the unit and then to the other assets of the unit prorata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An 
impairment loss recognized for goodwill cannot be reversed in a subsequent period. 

TRADE PAYABLES

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business. Trade 
payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less. Trade payables are recognized initially 
at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost.
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PROVISIONS

Provisions represent liabilities of the Corporation for which the amount or timing is uncertain. Provisions are recognized 
when the Corporation has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow 
of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognized 
for future operating losses. Provisions are measured at the present value of the expected expenditures to settle the 
obligation using a discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to 
the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognized as interest expense.

LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLANS (“LTIPs”)

The Corporation has in place LTIPs for key management personnel under which stock options, cash-settled performance 
share units (“PSUs”), cash-settled deferred share units ("DSUs") and cash-settled restricted share units ("RSUs") have been 
and can be issued.  Stock options, PSUs and RSUs vest over time in accordance with the terms of the grant.  DSUs vest when 
granted.  The instruments pertaining to the LTIPs are calculated at fair value, by applying a pricing model at the end of each 
reporting period and recorded in non-current liabilities (PSUs, DSUs and RSUs) over the vesting period.

INCOME TAXES

Income tax is recognized in the consolidated statements of earnings except to the extent that it relates to a business 
combination, or items recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax expense is the expected tax payable or receivable on taxable income or loss for the period, calculated using tax 
rates and laws that were enacted or substantively enacted for the reporting period. It may also include adjustments for prior 
periods.

The Corporation follows the liability method when accounting for income taxes. Under this method, deferred income tax 
assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax consequences attributable to temporary differences between 
the financial statement carrying values of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. This approach also 
requires the recording of deferred income tax assets related to operating losses and tax credit carry forwards. Deferred 
income tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted or substantively enacted income tax rates applicable when 
temporary differences and carry forwards are expected to be recovered or settled. Deferred income taxes are not recognized 
for the initial recognition of goodwill, the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affects neither accounting nor taxable 
profit or loss, and temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures where the Corporation 
controls the reversal of the temporary difference and reversal is not expected in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets for unused tax loss carry forwards and deductible temporary differences are only recognized 
when it is probable that there will be future taxable profits against which the assets can be utilized. deferred income tax 
assets are reviewed at each reporting period and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax 
benefit will be realized.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are disclosed as non-current. They are offset when there is a legally enforceable 
right to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation 
authority on either the same taxable entity or different entities where there is an intention to settle the balance on a net 
basis.

As tax legislation is complex and subject to interpretation, in determining current and deferred income taxes, the 
Corporation takes into account the impact of uncertain tax positions and whether additional taxes and penalties may be due. 
This assessment, based on judgment, requires estimates and assumptions considering facts and circumstances existing as at 
the reporting period. Estimates are reviewed each reporting period and updated, based on new information available.
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GOVERNMENTAL ASSISTANCE AND INVESTMENT TAX CREDITS (ITCs)

Governmental assistance and ITCs are recorded when there is reasonable assurance that the Corporation will comply with all 
the relevant conditions and that the governmental assistance or ITCs will be received.  Governmental assistance and ITCs are 
subject to examination and approval by regulating authorities, and, therefore, the amounts granted may differ from those 
recorded.  Governmental assistance and ITCs determined to be earned by the Corporation are recorded as a reduction of the 
operating expenses incurred.

LEASES

Leases are classified as either operating or finance, based on the substance of the transaction at inception of the lease. The 
Corporation leases certain office premises and equipment in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of 
ownership are retained by the lessor. These are classified as operating leases. Payments made under these leases (net of any 
incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the consolidated statement of earnings on a straight-line basis over the 
period of the lease.

Finance leases which transfer to the Corporation substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are 
capitalized at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum 
lease payments. Finance expenses are charged to the statement of earnings over the period of the agreement. Obligations 
under finance leases are included in other financial liabilities net of finance costs allocated to future periods. Capitalized 
leased assets are depreciated over the estimated life of the asset or the lease term.

PENSION SCHEMES

The Corporation maintains a number of defined contribution schemes and contributions are charged to the consolidated 
statement of earning in the year in which they are due. In addition, the Corporation operates defined benefit schemes which 
require contributions to be made to separately administered funds. The cost of providing benefits under defined benefit 
schemes is determined separately for each scheme using the projected unit credit actuarial valuation method. Current 
service costs, past service costs, curtailment costs and settlement costs along with interest costs which are based on a 
notional charge based on scheme liabilities during the year, less expected returns on scheme assets, are charged to the 
consolidated statement of earning. Actuarial gains and losses are fully recognized in equity through the consolidated 
statements of comprehensive income as they arise. The consolidated statement of financial position reflect the schemes’ 
surplus or deficit at the consolidated statement of financial position date.

SHARE CAPITAL

Issuance costs directly attributable to the issuance of shares are recognized as a deduction from equity, net of income tax 
effects.

DIVIDENDS 

Dividends on common shares are recognized in the Corporation’s consolidated financial statements in the period in which 
the dividends are declared.
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EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share are determined using the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year.

Diluted earnings per share are determined using the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period, plus 
the effects of dilutive potential shares outstanding during the period. The calculation of diluted earnings per share is made 
using the treasury stock method.

FUTURE ACCOUNTING STANDARD CHANGES

ADOPTION OF IFRS 16 - LEASES 

In January 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16 - Leases, which sets out new principles for the recognition, measurement and 
disclosure of leases. This standard supersedes IAS 17 - Leases, and other leases-related interpretations, eliminates the 
classification of leases as either operating or finance type leases and introduces a single lessee accounting model.

This single lease accounting model will result in the recognition of a right-to-use asset, as well as a lease liability reflecting 
the present value of the future lease payments.  Depreciation expense on the right-to-use asset, or right-to use asset 
expense, and interest expense on the lease liability will replace the operating lease expenses that were recognized under IAS 
17 - Leases.

IFRS 16 - Leases permits two possible transition methods for its application: a) retrospective with restatement of prior 
reporting period presented or b) retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially applying the standard recognized on 
the date of initial application (modified retrospective method).  The Corporation intends to adopt IFRS 16 - Leases using the 
modified retrospective method.

The Corporation expects that the adoption and application of IFRS 16 - Leases, effective January 1, 2019, will result in a 
material increase to its assets and liabilities through the recognition of right-to-use assets and lease liabilities, estimated to 
range between $1,000 and $1,200.  

IFRIC 23, UNCERTAINTY OVER INCOME TAX TREATMENTS

In June 2017, the IFRS Interpretations Committee issued IFRIC 23 which clarifies how the recognition and measurement 
requirements of IAS 12 - Income Taxes, are applied where there is uncertainty over income tax treatments. 

The Corporation has assessed and concluded the impact from the adoption of this accounting interpretation on its financial 
statements will not be significant.

There are no other IFRS (or IFRIC) interpretations that are not yet effective that would be expected to have a material 
impact on the Corporation.
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3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical trends and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are likely to materialize under reasonable circumstances.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

The Corporation makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.  The resulting accounting estimates will, by 
definition, seldom equal the related actual results.  The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a 
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

COSTS AND ANTICIPATED PROFITS IN EXCESS OF BILLINGS

The Corporation values its costs and anticipated profits in excess of billings based on the time and materials charged into 
each project. Costs and anticipated profits in excess of billings for each project are reviewed on a monthly basis to determine 
whether the amount is a true reflection of the amount that will be invoiced on the project. Where the review determines 
that the value of costs and anticipated profits in excess of billings exceed the amount that can be invoiced, adjustments are 
made to the costs and anticipated profits in excess of billings. The valuation of costs and anticipated profits in excess of 
billings involves estimates of the volume of work required to complete the project. Changes in the estimation of work 
required to complete the projects could lead to the undervaluation or overvaluation of costs and anticipated profits in excess 
of billings.

IDENTIFIABLE INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL

Identifiable intangible assets and goodwill, excluding software and non-competition agreements, represented $3,794.6 of 
total assets on the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2018 ($3,267.1 as at December 31, 2017). 
These assets arise out of business combinations and the Corporation applies the acquisition method of accounting to these 
transactions. In measuring the fair value of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed and estimating their useful lives, 
Management used significant estimates and assumptions regarding cash flow projections, economic risk and weighted 
average cost of capital.

Intangible assets related to business combinations and recognized separately from goodwill are initially recognized at their 
fair value at the acquisition date and are amortized with determined finite lives. If results differ from estimates, the 
Corporation may be required to increase amortization or impairment charges.

CLAIMS PROVISIONS

In the normal course of business the Corporation faces legal proceedings for work carried out on projects.  The Corporation 
has professional liability insurance in order to manage risks related to such proceedings.  Management estimates the claims 
provisions, based on advice and information provided by its legal advisors and on its own past experience in the settlement 
of similar proceedings.  Claims provisions include litigation costs and also take into account indemnities.  Final settlements 
could have an effect on the financial position or operating results of the Corporation.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

The present value of obligations is calculated on an actuarial basis which depends on a number of assumptions relating to 
the future. These key assumptions are assessed regularly according to market conditions and data available to Management. 
Additional details are given in note 17.
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INCOME TAXES

The Corporation is subject to income tax laws and regulations in several jurisdictions. An estimate is required in determining 
the worldwide provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax 
determination is uncertain. The Corporation recognizes liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of 
whether additional taxes will be due in the future. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the 
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities 
in the period in which such determination is made. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with 
respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where 
appropriate, on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING THE CORPORATION'S ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES

DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS

The assessment of the probability of future taxable income in which deferred income tax assets can be utilized is based on 
the Corporation’s most recent approved budget forecast, which is adjusted for significant non-taxable income and expenses 
and specific limits to the use of any unused tax loss or credit. The tax rules in the numerous jurisdictions in which the 
Corporation operates are also carefully taken into consideration. The recognition of deferred income tax assets that are 
subject to certain legal or economic limits or uncertainties is assessed individually by Management based on the specific 
facts and circumstances.

4 BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS 
Acquisitions are accounted for using the acquisition method, and the operating results are included in the consolidated 
financial statements from the date of acquisition. If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the 
end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs, the Corporation will report provisional amounts for the items 
for which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period, and 
additional assets or liabilities are recognized, to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed 
at the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognized at that date.

The measurement period is the period from the date of acquisition to the date the Corporation obtains complete information 
about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date and is subject to a maximum of one year.

2018 TRANSACTIONS

a) Berger Group Holdings, Inc.  ("Louis Berger")

On December 18, 2018, WSP closed the acquisition of Louis Berger.  Louis Berger is a US-headquartered leading international 
professional services firm mainly active in the Transportation & Infrastructure and Environmental & Water sectors, as well 
as in Master Planning.  Louis Berger has approximately 5,000 employees, predominantly located in offices across the United 
States, with an additional presence across Continental Europe, the Middle East, Africa, Asia (mainly India) and Latin America. 

Given the size of the transaction and proximity to the end of fiscal year, the Corporation has not yet completed its fair value 
assessment of the assets acquired, the liabilities assumed and goodwill.  Consequently, the fair value adjustments related to 
this acquisition are included in goodwill in the preliminary fair value assessment of assets acquired and liabilities assumed.  
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The table below presents Management's preliminary assessment of said fair values of the assets acquired and the liabilities 
assumed.  The final assessment of the fair values will be finalized after the values of the assets and liabilities have been 
definitely determined.  Accordingly, the following values are subject to change and such changes may be material. 

Preliminary

Recognized amounts of identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed

Current Assets
Cash 106.6
Trade, prepaids and other receivables 210.6
Costs and anticipated profits in excess of billings 218.2

Property and equipment 12.8
Computer Software 0.3
Intangible assets 62.4
Deferred income tax assets 17.0
Other non-current assets 84.7

Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (338.4)
Billings in excess of costs and anticipated profits (36.7)

Long-term debts (102.8)
Deferred income tax liabilities (0.3)
Fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities assumed 234.4

Goodwill 350.0

Total purchase consideration 584.4

Cash acquired (106.6)
Cash disbursements 477.8

Goodwill is attributable to the workforce of the acquired business and the synergies expected to arise with the Corporation 
after the acquisition. None of the goodwill recognized is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes. 

The trade receivables acquired had a fair value and gross contractual amount of $184.6.

The acquired business contributed revenues of $23.8 and  nil net earnings from December 18, 2018 to December 31, 2018. If 
the acquisition of Louis Berger had occurred on January 1, 2018 and using Louis Berger statutory stand alone financial 
results, the Corporation’s revenues and net earnings for 2018 would have increased by $1,747.1 and $38.8 respectively.
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b) Other acquisitions in 2018

In 2018, the Corporation concluded a number of other minor acquisitions. The table below presents Management's 
preliminary assessment of the fair values of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed.  The final assessment of the fair 
values will be finalized after the values of the assets and liabilities have been definitively determined.  Accordingly, the 
following values are subject to change and such changes may be material.  These acquisitions were not individually material, 
therefore the Corporation has chosen to disclose the required information in aggregate.

Preliminary

Recognized amounts of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed

Current Assets
Cash 5.5
Trade, prepaids and other receivables 12.6
Costs and anticipated profits in excess of billings 4.0

Property and equipment 2.2
Computer software 0.2
Deferred income tax assets 0.7
Other non-current assets 0.5

Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (15.1)

Billings in excess of costs and anticipated profits (0.2)

Long-term debts (0.6)
Fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities assumed 9.8

Goodwill 42.2

Total purchase consideration 52.0

Cash acquired (5.5)
Consideration payable (3.1)

Cash disbursements 43.4

Goodwill is attributable to the workforce of the acquired business and the synergies expected to arise with the Corporation 
after the acquisition. None of the goodwill recognized is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes. 

The trade receivables acquired had a fair value and gross contractual amount of $11.9.
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2017 TRANSACTIONS

a) Opus International Consultants Limited ("Opus")

On December 4, 2017, WSP closed the acquisition of Opus.  Opus is a multi-disciplinary infrastructure (transportation and 
water), buildings and asset development management consultancy firm with approximately 3,000 engineers, designers, 
planners, researchers and advisers across New Zealand, Australia, Canada and the United Kingdom.

In 2018, the Corporation finalized the assessment of the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed related to 
this acquisition.

The final determination of the fair values required some adjustments to the preliminary assessments as shown below.  The 
Corporation has not restated the 2017 consolidated statement of financial position’s comparative figures as the adjustments 
were deemed not material. The Corporation also determined that the net impact on the net earnings as a result of these 
adjustments was not material for the periods subsequent to the acquisition date, and as such, they were accounted for in the 
current year’s consolidated statement of earnings.
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The table below presents Management’s final assessment of the fair values of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. 

Preliminary Adjustments Final

Recognized amounts of identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed

Current Assets
Cash 22.4 — 22.4
Trade, prepaids and other receivables 73.3 (0.4) 72.9
Costs and anticipated profits in excess of billings 33.2 (2.3) 30.9

Property and equipment 22.4 — 22.4
Computer software 1.5 — 1.5
Intangible assets 34.5 8.0 42.5
Deferred income tax assets — 9.5 9.5
Other non-current assets 0.9 — 0.9

Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (55.3) (17.3) (72.6)
Billings in excess of costs and anticipated profits (18.2) — (18.2)

Long-term debts (52.8) — (52.8)

Deferred income tax liabilities (0.8) (6.5) (7.3)
Retirement benefit obligations (1.7) (0.3) (2.0)

Fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities assumed 59.4 (9.3) 50.1

Goodwill 180.1 9.3 189.4

Total purchase consideration 239.5 — 239.5

Cash acquired (22.4) — (22.4)

Consideration payable (1.8) 1.8 —
Cash disbursements 215.3 1.8 217.1

Goodwill is attributable to the workforce of the acquired business and the synergies expected to arise with the Corporation 
after the acquisition. None of the goodwill recognized is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes. 

The receivables acquired had a fair value and gross contractual amount of $66.6.

The acquired businesses contributed revenues of $37.0 and a net loss of $7.4 from December 4, 2017 to December 31, 2017. If 
these acquisitions had occurred on January 1, 2017, the Corporation’s revenues and net earnings for 2017 would have 
increased by $321.0 and $21.5, respectively.
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b) Other acquisitions in 2017 

In 2017, the Corporation concluded a number of other acquisitions, notably, POCH ("POCH"), a 730-employee professional 
services firm in Chile, acquired in the second quarter of 2017 and Consultoría Colombiana S.A. ("ConCol"), a 1,000 
professional services firm based in Colombia, acquired in the fourth quarter of 2017.

The final determination of the fair values required some adjustments to the preliminary assessments as shown below.  The 
Corporation has not restated the 2017 consolidated statement of financial position’s comparative figures as the adjustments 
were deemed not material. The Corporation also determined that the net impact on the net earnings as a result of these 
adjustments was not material for the periods subsequent to the acquisition date, and as such, they were accounted for in the 
current year’s consolidated statement of earnings.
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The table below presents Management’s final assessment of the fair values of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. 

These acquisitions were not individually material, therefore the Corporation has chosen to disclose the required information 
in aggregate.

Preliminary Adjustments Final

Recognized amounts of identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed

Current Assets
Cash 8.8 — 8.8
Trade, prepaids and other receivables 42.9 (3.9) 39.0
Costs and anticipated profits in excess of billings 26.2 1.2 27.4

Property and equipment 7.8 — 7.8
Computer software 2.0 0.4 2.4
Intangible assets — 0.7 0.7
Deferred income tax assets 8.1 (6.7) 1.4
Other non-current assets 1.7 0.1 1.8

Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (43.3) (13.1) (56.4)
Billings in excess of costs and anticipated profits (9.9) 5.4 (4.5)

Long-term debts (21.1) (0.7) (21.8)
Other non-current liabilities (0.8) 1.0 0.2
Deferred income tax liabilities (5.4) 5.2 (0.2)
Fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities assumed 17.0 (10.4) 6.6

Goodwill 101.5 3.7 105.2

Total purchase consideration 118.5 (6.7) 111.8

Cash acquired (8.8) — (8.8)

Consideration payable (35.3) 34.4 (0.9)
Cash disbursements 74.4 27.7 102.1

Goodwill is attributable to the workforce of the acquired business and the synergies expected to arise with the Corporation 
after the acquisition. None of the goodwill recognized is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.

The trade receivables acquired had a fair value and gross contractual amount of $36.8.

The acquired businesses, comprising mainly of POCH and ConCol, contributed revenues of $26.8 and a net loss of $1.2 from 
their dates of acquisition to December 31, 2017. If these acquisitions had occurred on January 1, 2017, the Corporation’s 
revenues and net earnings for 2017 would have increased by $70.6 and decreased by $5.4, respectively.

Cash disbursed related to acquisition made prior to 2017 totaled $6.0.
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5 JOINT ARRANGEMENTS 
The Corporation holds interests in various joint arrangements. The lists below present the most significant joint 
arrangements that have been identified and classified as joint operations.

2018

Name Interest Country

PB/HOK Joint Venture 50% USA
Phase 2 Partnership (P2P) 50% USA
Pacific Complete / Woolgoolga to Ballina 40% Australia
Maryland Transit Partners 27% USA
General Engineering Consultants 33% USA
Gateway Trans Hudson Partnership 38% USA
Kier WSP 50% England
Scotland Transerv 30% England
Capital Journeys JV 25% New-Zealand
Marlborough Roads 25% New-Zealand

2017

Name Interest Country

Pacific Complete / Woolgoolga to Ballina 40% Australia
Melbourne Metro 33% Australia
PB/HOK Joint Venture 50% USA
Lower South Creek 50% Australia
Toowoomba Second Range Crossing 50% Australia
Sydney Rapid Transit 50% Australia
Atlanta Aviation 41% USA
Kier WSP 50% England
Inland Rail Design JV 65% Australia
Gateway Trans Hudson Partnership 38% USA

There are no significant contingent liabilities relating to the Corporation’s interest in the above identified joint operations, 
and no contingent liabilities of the venture itself.
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6 CASH

2018 2017

$ $

Cash 254.7 185.1

Less: Bank overdraft (note 16) (0.8) (6.5)

Cash net of bank overdraft 253.9 178.6

7 TRADE, PREPAID AND OTHER 
RECEIVABLES

2018 2017

$ $

Trade receivables 1,656.8 1,391.4
Allowance for expected credit loss (101.6) (84.5)

Net trade receivables 1,555.2 1,306.9

Amounts due from joint ventures and associates undertaking 15.1 19.4
Other receivables 188.3 116.8
Prepaid expenses 99.0 111.6

1,857.6 1,554.7
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The aging of gross trade receivables past due was as follows:

2018 2017

$ $

Current 581.5 541.3
Past due 0-30 days 507.4 365.0

Past due 31-60 days 195.0 159.6

Past due 61-90 days 85.5 59.8

Past due 91-180 days 115.3 109.7

Past due over 180 days 172.1 156.0

1,656.8 1,391.4

Allowance for expected credit loss (101.6) (84.5)
Balance – End of year 1,555.2 1,306.9

The Corporation is exposed to credit risk with respect to its trade receivables and maintains provisions for potential credit 
losses. Potential for such losses is mitigated because customer creditworthiness is evaluated before credit is extended and 
no single customer represents more than 10.0% of revenues.
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8   COSTS AND ANTICIPATED PROFITS IN 
EXCESS OF BILLINGS AND BILLINGS IN 
EXCESS OF COSTS AND ANTICIPATED 
PROFITS

Changes in Costs and anticipated profits in excess of billings (contract assets) and in Billings in excess of costs and 
anticipated profits (contract liabilities) are as follows:

2018 2017

Costs and
anticipated

profits in excess
of billings

Billings in excess
of costs and
anticipated

profits

Costs and
anticipated

profits in excess
of billings

Billings in
excess of costs

and anticipated
profits

DR/(CR) DR/(CR) DR/(CR) DR/(CR)

Balance - Beginning of Period 905.0 (483.8) 824.0 (483.4)

Revenues recognized through Billings in
excess of costs and anticipated profits during
the period — 2,396.2 — 2,047.8

Increases due to cash received or amounts
invoiced prior to rendering of services — (2,527.9) — (2,031.1)

Transfers from Costs and anticipated profits in
excess of billings recognized at the beginning
of the period to trade receivables (5,568.2) — (4,846.3) —

Revenues recognized via increases/decreases
as a result of changes in measure of progress
during the period 5,511.9 — 4,894.4 —

Increases/decreases due to business
combinations/disposals 221.1 (31.5) 54.9 (31.9)

Exchange difference 46.3 (31.3) (22.0) 14.8

Balance - End of Period 1,116.1 (678.3) 905.0 (483.8)
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9 OTHER ASSETS

2018 2017

$ $

Financial assets* 95.6 97.6

Investments in associates 82.8 4.6

Investments in joint ventures 10.6 6.8

Other 3.0 4.0

192.0 113.0

* Included in Financial assets are investments in a multitude of mutual funds, based on employees’ investment elections, 
with respect of the deferred compensation obligations of the Corporation as disclosed in note 17. The fair value of these 
investments is $95.1 ($97.1 in 2017), determined by the market price of the funds at the reporting date.
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10 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 
Freehold
land and 
buildings 

Leasehold 
improvements 

Furniture and 
equipment

Computer 
equipment  Total 

$ $ $ $ $
Balance as at January 1, 2017

Cost 32.9 169.5 172.8 149.4 524.6

Accumulated depreciation (7.2) (53.1) (88.2) (83.4) (231.9)

Net value 25.7 116.4 84.6 66.0 292.7

Additions — 19.7 22.0 38.0 79.7

Additions through business acquisitions
(note 4) 2.8 0.2 20.7 7.8 31.5

Disposals (5.0) — (0.4) (0.2) (5.6)

Depreciation for the year (1.1) (21.2) (25.5) (31.8) (79.6)

Exchange differences 0.3 (0.1) (3.7) 0.2 (3.3)

(3.0) (1.4) 13.1 14.0 22.7

Balance as at December 31, 2017 22.7 115.0 97.7 80.0 315.4

Balance as at December 31, 2017

Cost 28.3 205.5 221.1 207.0 661.9

Accumulated depreciation (5.6) (90.5) (123.4) (127.0) (346.5)

Net value 22.7 115.0 97.7 80.0 315.4

Additions — 31.5 30.2 44.0 105.7

Additions through business acquisitions
(note 4) 1.4 4.9 7.2 1.5 15.0

Disposals (1.1) (0.3) (1.8) (0.5) (3.7)

Depreciation for the year (0.5) (24.8) (28.2) (38.3) (91.8)

     Exchange differences 0.7 6.9 0.4 2.0 10.0

0.5 18.2 7.8 8.7 35.2

Balance as at December 31, 2018 23.2 133.2 105.5 88.7 350.6

Balance as at December 31, 2018

Cost 28.5 246.0 223.3 246.8 744.6

Accumulated depreciation (5.3) (112.8) (117.8) (158.1) (394.0)

Net value 23.2 133.2 105.5 88.7 350.6
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11  INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

Software 
Contract
backlogs

Customer 
relationships 

Non- 
competition 
agreements 

Trade
names Total 

$ $ $ $ $ $

        Balance as at January 1, 2017

Cost 119.1 167.1 237.7 2.5 80.4 606.8

Accumulated amortization (57.1) (59.4) (117.9) (2.1) (14.6) (251.1)

Net value 62.0 107.7 119.8 0.4 65.8 355.7

Additions 23.6 — — — 0.8 24.4

Additions through business
acquisitions (note 4) 7.3 5.9 58.7 — — 71.9

Disposals (0.1) — — — — (0.1)

Amortization for the year (25.6) (30.5) (27.8) (0.4) (4.9) (89.2)

Exchange differences (0.1) (4.6) (3.3) — 0.5 (7.5)

5.1 (29.2) 27.6 (0.4) (3.6) (0.5)

Balance as at December 31, 2017 67.1 78.5 147.4 — 62.2 355.2

Balance as at December 31, 2017

Cost 160.4 160.5 275.1 2.5 81.3 679.8

 Accumulated amortization (93.3) (82.0) (127.7) (2.5) (19.1) (324.6)

Net value 67.1 78.5 147.4 — 62.2 355.2

Additions 28.7 — — — — 28.7

Additions through business
acquisitions (note 4) 0.9 25.3 43.5 — 2.3 72.0

Disposals — — — — — —

Amortization for the year (31.5) (41.6) (23.7) — (5.8) (102.6)

Exchange differences 1.1 4.6 6.8 — 1.9 14.4

(0.8) (11.7) 26.6 — (1.6) 12.5

Balance as at December 31, 2018 66.3 66.8 174.0 — 60.6 367.7

Balance as at December 31, 2018

      Cost 176.1 196.0 306.8 — 81.8 760.7

      Accumulated amortization (109.8) (129.2) (132.8) — (21.2) (393.0)

      Net value 66.3 66.8 174.0 — 60.6 367.7

The carrying amount of intangible assets assessed as having an indefinite useful life, which consists of the WSP trade name, 
is $49.6 as at December 31, 2018 ($48.4 in 2017).
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The Corporation performed its annual impairment test for the WSP trade name as at  September 30, 2018 and October 1, 2017 
in accordance with its policy described in note 2.   As a result, no impairment for the WSP trade name was recorded.

During the year, the Corporation acquired intangible assets amounting to $100.7 ($96.3 in 2017), all of which are subject to 
amortization. 

12  GOODWILL 

2018 2017

$ $

Balance – Beginning of period 2,979.0 2,783.6

Goodwill resulting from business acquisitions (note 4) 405.2 251.2

Exchange differences 109.0 (55.8)

Balance – End of period 3,493.2 2,979.0

Goodwill amounting to $3,493.2 ($2,979.0 as at December 31, 2017) is allocated to the Corporation’s CGUs.   The carrying value 
of goodwill by CGU is identified in the table below:

2018 2017

$ $

Goodwill allocated to CGUs
Canada 891.2 891.2

Americas 1,509.3 1,068.3

UK 320.5 312.6

Nordics 333.5 306.8

New Zealand 197.3 182.4

Australia 99.8 81.4

Asia 74.4 68.5

Other 67.2 67.8

3,493.2 2,979.0
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IMPAIRMENT TEST OF GOODWILL

The Corporation performed its annual impairment test for goodwill as at September 30, 2018 and October 1, 2017 in 
accordance with its policy described in note 2. The key assumptions used to determine the fair value for the different CGUs 
for the most recently completed impairment calculations for 2018 and 2017 are discussed below. The Corporation has not 
identified any indicators of impairment at any other date and as such has not completed an additional impairment 
calculation. The fair value of each CGU exceeded its carrying value. As a result, no goodwill impairment was recorded.

VALUATION TECHNIQUE

FAIR VALUE LESS COSTS TO SELL ("FVLCS")

The fair value of the CGUs has been determined based on the FVLCS. Fair Value Measurement is defined in IFRS 13 as a 
market-based measurement rather than an entity-specific measurement. 

Therefore, the fair value of the CGU must be measured using the assumptions that market participants would use rather 
than those related specifically to the Corporation. In determining the FVLCS of the CGUs, an income approach using the 
discounted cash flow methodology was utilized. In addition, the market approach was employed in assessing the 
reasonableness of the conclusions reached.

INCOME APPROACH

The discounted cash flow (“DCF”) technique provides the best assessment of what each CGU could be exchanged for in an 
arm’s length transaction as fair value is represented by the present value of expected future cash flows of the business 
together with the residual value of the business at the end of the forecast period. The DCF was applied on an enterprise-value 
basis, where the after-tax cash flows prior to interest expense are discounted using a weighted-average cost of capital 
(“WACC”). This approach requires assumptions regarding revenue growth rates, adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA 
margins, level of working capital, capital expenditures, tax rates and discount rates.

MARKET APPROACH

It is assumed under the market approach that the value of a Corporation reflects the price at which comparable companies 
in the same industry are purchased under similar circumstances. A comparison of a CGU to similar companies in the same 
industry whose financial information is publicly available may provide a reasonable basis to estimate fair value. Fair value 
under this approach is calculated based on an adjusted EBITDA multiple compared to the average median multiple based on 
publicly available information for comparable companies and transaction prices.

KEY ASSUMPTIONS USED IN DETERMINING THE FVLCS

CASH FLOW PROJECTIONS

The cash flow projections, covering a five-year period (“projection period”), were based on financial projections approved by 
management using assumptions that reflect the Corporation’s most likely planned course of action, given management’s 
judgment of the most probable set of economic conditions, adjusted to reflect the perspective of the expectations of a 
market participant. Adjusted EBITDA is based on actual and estimated values in the first year of the projection period, 
budgeted values in the second year of the projection period, and these are increased over the projection period using an 
approximate growth rate for anticipated efficiency improvements. The growth rate applied to the cash flow projections for 
the Corporation’s CGUs ranged from 2.0% to 5.0% at September 30, 2018, and October 1, 2017. The Corporation also 
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considered past experience, economic trends as well as industry and market trends in assessing reasonableness of financial 
projections used.

DISCOUNT RATE

The discount rate (WACC) reflects the current market assessment of the risk specific to comparable companies. The discount 
rate was based on the weighted-average cost of equity and cost of debt for comparable companies within the industry. The 
discount rate represents the after tax weighted average cost of capital ("WACC"). Determining the WACC requires analyzing 
the cost of equity and debt separately, and takes into account a risk premium that is based on the applicable CGU. The post-
tax WACC applied to the Corporation’s CGUs ranged between 7.50% and 13.25%, at September 30, 2018 (7.50% and 13.25% at 
October 1, 2017).

TERMINAL GROWTH RATE

Growth rates used to extrapolate the Corporation’s projection were determined using published industry growth rates in 
combination with inflation assumptions and the input of each CGU’s management group based on historical trend analysis 
and future expectations of growth. The terminal growth rate applied to the cash flow projections for the Corporation’s CGUs 
was 3.0% at September 30, 2018, and October 1, 2017.

COSTS TO SELL

The costs to sell for each CGU have been estimated at approximately 0.75% (2018 and 2017) of the CGU’s enterprise value. The 
costs to sell reflect the incremental costs, excluding finance costs and income taxes, which would be directly attributable to 
the disposal of the CGU, including legal and direct incremental costs incurred in preparing the CGU for sale.

SENSITIVITY TO CHANGES IN ASSUMPTIONS

As at September 30, 2018,  no reasonably possible change in any of the key assumptions used in determining their FVLCS 
would have caused the carrying values of the Corporation's CGUs to materially exceed their respective recoverable amounts 
(FVLCS).

13 LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLANS 
("LTIPs")

In 2011, the Corporation adopted a long term incentive plan (the “LTI Plan”) for certain employees under which restricted 
share units or stock options could be issued. The total number of shares reserved and available for grant and issuance 
pursuant to the LTI Plan is limited to 2,080,950 shares. In 2014, the Corporation also adopted a Performance Share Unit Plan 
pursuant to which cash-settled performance share units (“PSUs”) could be issued. In 2015, the Corporation adopted a 
Deferred Share Unit Plan pursuant to which cash-settled deferred share units ("DSUs") could be issued and in 2016, the 
Corporation adopted a Restricted Share Unit Plan pursuant to which cash-settled restricted share units (“RSUs”) could be 
issued. The LTI Plan, the Performance Share Unit Plan, the Deferred Share Unit Plan and the Restricted Share Unit Plan are 
collectively referred to as the “LTIPs”.
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RSUs

The RSUs are settled in cash and vest after three years. The measurement of the compensation expense and corresponding 
liability for these awards is based on the fair value of the award, and is recorded as an expense, or recovery, evenly over 
three years. At the end of each financial reporting period, changes in the Corporation’s payment obligation due to changes in 
the market value of the common shares on the TSX, or change in the number of units, are recorded as an expense or 
recovery. 

The 2018 payout for RSUs amounted to $0.6 ($0.5 in 2017). The Corporation recorded an expense of $3.1 during the year ($2.5 
in 2017) related to the RSUs in Personnel Costs.  As at December 31, 2018, 139,726 RSUs were outstanding (118,630 in 2017) 
and the cumulative obligation stood at $6.0 ($3.5 in 2017).

STOCK OPTIONS

Options granted under the stock option plan, to officers and employees, may be exercised during a period not exceeding ten 
years from the date of grant. Options vest three years after the date of grant. Any unexercised options will expire at the 
earlier of one month after the date a beneficiary ceases to be an employee or the expiration date of the stock options 
granted. 

During the year, 35,745 options were exercised at a prices ranging from $35.45 to $41.49.

As at December 31, 2018,  693,583 stock options were outstanding (657,829 in 2017) of which 594,079 stock options had vested 
(471,350 in 2017), at exercise prices ranging from $35.12 to $59.75 ($35.12 to $49.28 in 2017).

The fair value of stock options at the grant date was measured using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The historical 
share price of the Corporation’s common shares is used to estimate expected volatility, and government bond rates are used 
to estimate the risk-free interest rate. The following table illustrates the inputs used in the measurement of the fair values of 
the stock options at the grant date granted during the period ended December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017:

2018 2017

Expected stock price volatility 20%-35% 20%-35%

Dividend 2.00%-3.00% 3.25%-3.75%

Risk-free interest rate 2.25%-2.50% 1.75%-2.25%

Fair value – weighted average of options issued $14.50-$15.50 $9.50-$10.50

During the year, the Corporation recorded a stock-based compensation expense of $1.0 ($1.4 in 2017) in Personnel Costs.

PSUs

The PSUs are settled in cash and vest if certain Corporation performance targets are met and payable yearly, starting in 2017. 
The measurement of the compensation expense and corresponding liability for these awards is based on the fair value of the 
award, and is recorded as an expense or recovery over the vesting period of the award. At the end of each financial reporting 
period, changes in the Corporation’s payment obligation due to changes in the market value of the common shares on the 
TSX, or change in the number of units based on the expected Corporation’s performance, are recorded as an expense or 
recovery.
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The 2018 payout for PSUs amounted to $12.3 ($8.4 in 2017). The Corporation recorded an expense of $23.3 during the year 
($8.8 in 2017) related to the PSUs in Personnel Costs.  As at December 31, 2018, there were 639,544 PSUs outstanding (663,721 
in 2017) and the cumulative obligation stood at $28.7 ($17.7 in 2017).

DSUs

The DSUs are settled in cash and vest as issued.  The measurement of the expense and corresponding liability for these 
awards is based the market value of the Corporation's common shares.  At the end of each financial reporting period, 
changes in the Corporation’s payment obligation due to changes in the market value of the Corporation's common shares on 
the TSX, or change in the number of units, are recorded as an expense or recovery. As at December 31, 2018, there are 
102,801 DSUs outstanding (68,227 in 2017). The Corporation recorded an expense of $2.5 (3.2 in 2017) related to the DSUs in 
Personnel Costs, and paid out an amount of $0.1 during the year ($0.2 in 2017), leaving the cumulative obligation at $6.5 ($4.1 
in 2017).

In 2018, the Corporation entered into derivative financial instruments with Canadian financial institutions to limit the 
Corporation's exposure to the variability of LTIP based units caused by fluctuations in its common share price.  The value of 
the derivative financial instruments fluctuates in accordance with the movement of the Corporation's common share price 
and are classified as FVTPL.  As such, they are measured at fair value on the consolidated statement of financial position and 
the mark-to-market gain or loss pertaining to derivative financial instruments is recorded in Personnel Costs.  For the 2018 
fiscal year, the mark-to-market loss recorded in Personnel Costs amounted to $1.8.

14 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED 
LIABILITIES  

2018 2017

$ $

Trade payables 737.7 518.5

Employee benefits payable 588.3 472.5

Sale taxes 82.0 65.9

Amounts due to joint venture and associated undertakings 10.0 3.1

Accrued expenses and other payables 275.7 203.0

Provisions 246.9 220.1

1,940.6 1,483.1

Less: Non-current provisions 153.1 121.2

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 1,787.5 1,361.9
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Claims
provisions

Property
provisions

Other
provisions Total

$ $ $ $

Balance as at December 31, 2016 123.2 82.9 20.3 226.4

Business acquisitions (0.3) 5.9 7.7 13.3

Additional provision 7.5 14.1 — 21.6

Paid or otherwise settled (9.3) (11.2) (14.2) (34.7)

Exchange differences (2.5) (4.0) — (6.5)

Balance as at December 31, 2017 118.6 87.7 13.8 220.1

Business acquisitions 7.6 9.7 30.2 47.5

Additional provision 15.5 31.8 2.2 49.5

Paid or otherwise settled (34.9) (29.2) (15.9) (80.0)

Exchange differences 3.7 5.3 0.8 9.8

Balance as at December 31, 2018 110.5 105.3 31.1 246.9

15 LONG-TERM DEBTS 

2018 2017

$ $

Credit facility 1,460.4 1,094.0

Other debts 43.1 64.7

1,503.5 1,158.7

Less: Current portion 42.3 276.3

1,461.2 882.4

The installments due on long-term debts over each of the next three years amount to $42.3 in 2019, $273.8 in 2020 and 
$1,187.4 in 2021 and beyond.
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CREDIT FACILITY

WSP has in place a US$1,800.0 million credit facility with a syndicate of financial institutions (the "Lenders") comprised 
of:

- a senior unsecured non-revolving term credit facility which consists of a principal amount of US$600.0 million (the 
"Term Facility"), made up of three term loans of US$200.0 million, expiring on December 31, 2020, December 18, 
2021 and December 18, 2022, respectively; and

- a senior unsecured revolving credit facility to a maximum amount of US$1,200.0 million (the "Revolving Credit 
Facility"). The maturity date of the Revolving Credit Facility is December 31, 2022. 

The credit facility bears interest at Canadian prime rate, US-based rate, Bankers’acceptances rate and LIBOR plus an 
applicable margin of up to 2.5% that will vary depending on the type of advances and the Corporation’s ratios, as defined in 
the agreement with the Lenders. The Corporation pays a commitment fee on the available unused credit facility.

Under the credit facility, the Corporation is required, among other conditions, to respect certain covenants on a 
consolidated basis. The main covenants are in regard to its consolidated funded debt to consolidated adjusted EBITDA and 
the interest coverage ratios, which are non-IFRS measures.  Management reviews compliance with these covenants on a 
quarterly basis in conjunction with filing requirements under its credit facility. All covenants have been met as at 
December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017.

Under the credit facility and bilateral facilities, the Corporation may issue irrevocable letters of credit up to $678.0 . As at 
December 31, 2018, the Corporation issued irrevocable letters of credit totaling $416.2 ($242.6 in 2017).

As at December 31, 2018, the Corporation had available other operating lines of credit amounting to $138.7 ($145.6 in 2017), 
of which $126.5 ($80.2 in 2017) were unused at year-end.

Credit facility allocation by borrowed currency:

2018
Base

currency 2017
Base

currency

$ $

US dollar 1,456.6 1,067.6 1,046.8 832.6

Sterling pound — — 10.6 6.2

Swedish Krona 3.8 24.7 2.8 18.2

Canadian dollar — — 33.8 —

1,460.4 1,094.0
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16 OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

2018 2017

$ $

Bank overdraft (note 6) 0.8 6.5

Notes payable 11.2 50.1

Obligations under finance leases 9.2 14.6

21.2 71.2

Less: Current portion 14.5 45.8

6.7 25.4

The installments due on financial liabilities are as follows: $14.5 in 2019, and $6.7 in 2020.

17 PENSIONS SCHEMES
Pension costs included in personnel costs consist of the following:

2018 2017

$ $

Defined benefit pension schemes current service cost 8.3 6.6

Defined benefit pension schemes employer contributions 12.2 11.2

Defined contribution pension schemes employer contributions 75.4 70.0

95.9 87.8

The Corporation operated both defined contribution and defined benefit pension schemes. Defined contributions are 
charged to the consolidated statements of earnings as they are incurred.

In Canada, the Corporation has defined contribution retirement savings plans for its employees. Pursuant to these plans, the 
Corporation pays a contribution equivalent to the employee contribution up to a maximum varying from 3% to 5% of the 
employee’s salary. An employee acquires the whole employer contributions after two years of continuous service or if he 
loses his job due to a layoff resulting from a lack of work. 

In the United Kingdom, there are five separate defined benefit schemes, all of which are closed to new members. The assets 
of the schemes are held separately from those of the Corporation in independently administered funds.
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On October 26, 2018, a UK High Court judgment was made in respect of the gender equalization of guaranteed minimum 
pensions (“GMPs”) for occupational pension schemes which is expected to create a precedent for other UK defined benefit 
pension schemes. The Corporation, with the help of its actuarial advisers, has calculated a preliminary provision of $6.0 for 
this matter, which it has recognized in its 2018 financial results.

For IAS 19 purposes, the Corporation has treated this event as a plan amendment resulting in an increase in Retirement 
benefit obligations in the consolidated statement of financial position and a corresponding past service cost in the 
consolidated statement of earnings. The past service cost, due to its nature and in alignment with the Corporation’s 
accounting policies (see note 2), was grouped under the Acquisition and integration costs caption in its consolidated 
statement of earnings.

In Sweden, a proportion of the multi-employer Government-run defined benefit plan is carried on the Corporation’s 
consolidated statement of financial position. Future service accrual under this arrangement ceased in 2008 where the 
employees became fully included in the Government plan’s arrangements. The multi-employer Government plan retains 
substantial other assets to meet the balance of pension liabilities. As the directors are unable to identify the underlying 
assets and liabilities of this element of the scheme, it is treated as a defined contribution scheme for the purposes of IAS 19 
“Employee Benefits.”

In the US, the Corporation maintains a deferred compensation plan accounted for under IAS 19 where an element of 
employees’compensation is deferred and invested in financial assets (as disclosed in note 9) in a trust, the assets of which are 
for the ultimate benefit of the employees but are available to the Corporation’s creditors in the event of insolvency.

For funded and unfunded defined benefit plans, any deficit of the fair value of plan assets over the present value of the 
defined benefit obligation is recognized as a liability in the consolidated statement of financial position. Actuarial gains and 
losses are recognized in full as they arise in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. These reflect changes in 
actuarial assumptions, and differences between actuarial assumptions and what has actually occurred.

The actuarial cost charged to the consolidated statements of earnings in respect of defined benefit plans consists of current 
service cost, net interest on defined benefit liability (asset), past service cost and costs of curtailments.

The liabilities of the Corporation arising from defined benefit obligations and their related current service cost are 
determined using the projected unit credit method. Valuations are performed annually. Actuarial advice is provided by both 
external consultants and actuaries. The actuarial assumptions used to calculate the benefit obligations vary according to the 
economic conditions of the country in which the plan is located and are set out below. To develop the expected long-term 
rate of return on assets assumption, the Corporation considered the current level of expected returns on risk-free 
investments (primarily UK government bonds) and the historical level of risk premium associated with the other asset 
classes in which the portfolio is invested. The expected return for each asset class was then applied to the schemes’ asset 
allocations to develop the overall expected long-term rate of return on assets for the combined portfolios.
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ASSUMPTIONS

2018 2017

United Kingdom

Rate of increase in pension payments 2.10% to 3.05% 2.05% to 2.20%

Discount rate 2.90% to 2.95% 2.55%

Inflation assumption 2.25% to 3.25% 2.20% to 3.20%

Life expectancy at age 65 (for member currently aged 65)

–    Men 87.9 87.9

–    Women 89.7 89.7

Sweden

Discount rate 2.50% 2.60%

Inflation assumption 2.00% 1.90%

Life expectancy at age 65 (for member currently aged 65)

–    Men 87.0 87.0

–    Women 89.0 89.0

United States

Discount rate 3.40% to 3.75% 2.70% to 3.00%

The major categories of plan assets pertaining to the UK defined benefits pension schemes are as follows:

December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017

Fair value $ % Fair value $ %

        Equities 55.7 27 77.4 38

        Bonds 80.8 39 79.6 39

        Other 68.7 34 47.2 23
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Amounts recognized in the statements of financial position are as follows:

2018 2017

$ $

Fair value of plan assets (United Kingdom) 205.2 204.2

Present value of funded obligations (United Kingdom) (233.4) (244.1)

Deficit (United Kingdom) (28.2) (39.9)

Present value of unfunded obligations (Sweden) (50.2) (47.8)

Present value of unfunded obligations (United States) (119.3) (119.0)

Pension liability (197.7) (206.7)

Amounts recognized in the consolidated statements of earnings are as follows:

2018 2017

$ $

Current service cost 8.3 6.6

Past service cost 6.0 —

Total service costs 14.3 6.6

2018 2017

$ $

Interest expenses 9.8 9.7

Expected return on plan assets (5.3) (4.7)

Net finance expenses on pension obligations 4.5 5.0
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Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows:

2018 2017

$ $

Present value of obligation – Beginning balance 410.9 395.3

Present value of obligation – Acquisition — 12.7

Current service cost 8.3 6.6

Past service cost 6.0 —

Contributions from scheme members 0.2 0.3

Benefits paid (28.5) (28.5)

Interest expenses 9.8 9.7

Actuarial (gain)/loss (assumptions) (13.0) 3.5

Actuarial (gain)/loss (experience) (6.8) 12.1

Exchange differences 16.0 (0.8)

Present value of obligation – Ending balance 402.9 410.9

Changes in the fair value of plan assets are as follows:

2018 2017

$ $

Fair value of plan assets – Beginning balance 204.2 177.2

Fair value of plan assets – Acquisition — 11.0

Expected return on plan assets 5.3 4.7

Contributions from scheme members 0.2 0.3

Contributions from employer 12.2 11.2

Benefits paid (14.6) (12.6)

Actuarial gain/(loss) (experience) (7.3) 8.0

Exchange differences 5.2 4.4

Fair value of plan assets – Ending balance 205.2 204.2

Net retirement obligations deficit summary

2018 2017

$ $

Fair value of scheme assets 205.2 204.2

Present value of scheme liabilities (402.9) (410.9)

Deficit (197.7) (206.7)
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Cumulative actuarial (losses)/gains recognized in equity are as follows:

2018 2017

$ $

Beginning balance (17.6) (10.0)

Net actuarial (loss)/gain recognized in the year 12.5 (7.6)

Balance – End of year (5.1) (17.6)

The Corporation’s defined benefit plans expose it to interest risk, inflation risk, longevity risk, currency risk and market 
investment risk. Sensitivity analysis of the overall pension deficit to changes in principal assumptions is shown below:

Assumption Change Impact on deficit

Discount rate +/- 0.1% Decrease/increase $5.3
Inflation rate +/- 0.1% Decrease/increase $2.9
Mortality +/- 1 year Decrease/increase $12.4

The combined employee and employer contributions expected to be paid in 2018, pertaining to the Corporation’s defined benefit 
pension schemes, are expected to be approximately $11.8.
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18 SHARE CAPITAL 

Authorized

An unlimited number of common shares without par value, voting and participating.

An unlimited number of preferred shares without par value, participating, issuable in series.

Issued and paid

Common shares
Number $

Balance as at January 1, 2017 101,371,137 2,491.6

Shares issued under the DRIP 1,716,486 82.7

Shares issued upon exercise of stock options* 72,969 3.1

Balance as at December 31, 2017 103,160,592 2,577.4

Shares issued under the DRIP  (note 24) 1,245,079 77.4

Shares issued upon exercise of stock options* 35,745 1.7

Balance as at December 31, 2018 104,441,416 2,656.5

 * The carrying value of the common shares includes $0.3 ($0.5 in 2017) which corresponds to a reduction in contributed surplus representing the
                value of accumulated compensation costs associated with the stock options exercised during the period.

As at December 31, 2018, no preferred shares were issued.

19 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The Corporation’s primary objectives when managing capital structure are as follows:

• maintain financial flexibility in order to meet financial obligations, to provide dividends, to execute growth plan 
and to continue growth through business acquisitions; 

• manage the Corporation’s activities in a responsible way in order to provide an adequate return for its shareholders; 
and

• comply with financial covenants required under the credit facility.

For capital management, the Corporation has defined its capital as the combination of long-term debts, shareholders’ equity 
and non controlling interest, net of cash (net of bank overdraft). 
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2018 2017

$ $

Long-term debts 1,503.5 1,158.7

Shareholders’ equity 3,259.0 2,959.0

Non-controlling interest 0.7 —

4,763.2 4,117.7

Less: Cash net of bank overdraft (253.9) (178.6)

4,509.3 3,939.1

The Corporation’s financing strategy is to maintain a flexible structure consistent with the objectives stated above, to 
respond adequately to changes in economic conditions and to allow growth organically and through business acquisitions. 
The Corporation monitors its capital structure using the consolidated funded debt to consolidated adjusted EBITDA ratio. 
This ratio is used to determine what the maximum debt level would be.

In order to maintain and adjust its capital structure, the Corporation may issue new shares in the market, contract bank 
loans and negotiate new credit facilities. 

20 REVENUES
The tables below present the Corporation’s revenues by market sector and client category. In 2018, approximately 76% of the 
revenues noted below were generated from cost-plus contracts with ceilings and fixed price contracts and approximately 
24% from cost-plus contracts without stated ceilings.

2018 2017

$ $
Market sector
Transportation & Infrastructure 4,126.6 3,492.1

Property & Buildings 1,877.1 1,707.8

Environment 835.1 819.0

Industry 148.1 139.4

Resources 429.4 352.2

Power & Energy 336.0 272.3

Other Services 155.8 159.4

7,908.1 6,942.2

Client Category
Public sector 4,420.6 4,089.2

Private sector 3,487.5 2,853.0

7,908.1 6,942.2
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Unfulfilled performance obligations represent the Corporation's remaining contractual obligations related to signed cost-
plus contracts with ceilings and fixed price contracts on which work has commenced as of December 31, 2018. Cost-plus 
contracts without stated ceilings have been excluded as the full amount of the contracted work cannot be definitely 
assessed.

Contract execution timing is subject to many factors outside of the Corporation's control.  Project scope changes, client-
driven time lines and project financing are just a few examples of such factors.  Below is the Corporation's best estimate with 
regards to the unwinding of its December 31, 2018 unfulfilled performance obligations.

Next 12 months More than 12 months Total

Unfulfilled performance obligations 3,365.3 2,977.1 6,342.4

21 ACQUISITION AND INTEGRATION 
COSTS

2018 2017

$ $

Business acquisition related costs 7.3 6.3

Business integration related costs 35.0 22.1

IT outsourcing program costs 14.0 —

UK-based defined pension plan past services cost (note 17) 6.0 —
62.3 28.4

Included in acquisition and integration costs are personnel costs of $19.9 and $6.2, for 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Business integration related costs pertain to costs incurred for the integration of acquired businesses for a period of up to 24 months from the date of acquisition.
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22  NET FINANCE EXPENSES 

2018 2017

$ $

Interest related to credit facility 45.8 33.8

Net finance expenses on pension obligations 4.5 5.0

Exchange loss/(gain) on assets/liabilities in foreign currencies 7.6 3.5
Other interest and bank charges 10.4 6.5

Loss/(gain) on financial assets in others assets 4.3 (7.7)

Interest income (3.8) (4.2)

68.8 36.9

23 INCOME TAXES 

The components of income tax expense for 2018 and 2017 were as follows:

2018 2017
$ $

Current tax
Current tax on earnings for the year 101.1 97.0
Adjustments in respect of prior years (11.5) 7.9
Total current tax 89.6 104.9

Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of temporary differences (18.3) (10.0)
Impact of change in tax rates (1.6) 16.0
Adjustments in respect of prior years 10.8 (8.8)
Total deferred tax (9.1) (2.8)

Total income tax expense 80.5 102.1
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The reconciliation of the difference between the income tax expense using the combined Canadian federal and provincial 
statutory tax rate of 26.7% (26.8% in 2017) and the actual effective tax rate is as follows:

2018 2017

$ % $ %

Earnings before income tax expense 329.3 — 315.4 —

Expected income tax expense at the
combined Canadian federal and provincial
statutory rate 87.9 26.7 84.5 26.8

Changes resulting from:

Foreign tax rate differences (19.4) (5.9) (3.2) (1.0)

Non-deductible expenses/(non-taxable
income), net 8.8 2.7 5.1 1.6

Unrecognized tax benefits, net 4.5 1.4 0.9 0.3

Adjustments in respect of prior years (0.7) (0.2) (0.9) (0.3)

Effect of change in tax rates* (1.5) (0.5) 16.0 5.1

Other items 0.9 0.2 (0.3) (0.1)

80.5 24.4 102.1 32.4
*On December 22, 2017, President Trump signed the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act into legislation reducing the US federal corporate income tax rate from 35% to 21%. As a result, the 
Corporation incurred a charge to other comprehensive income of $0.4 and an income tax expense of $16.0, due to a remeasurement of deferred income tax assets and liabilities.

In 2018 and 2017, unrecognized tax benefits, net, represented the impact of unrecognized current and prior years tax 
benefits related mostly to foreign subsidiaries where recovery is not considered probable, partly offset by the recognition of 
previously unrecognized deferred income tax assets related to certain subsidiaries that generated profits in the current year. 
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As at December 31, 2018, and 2017, the significant components of deferred income tax assets and liabilities were as follows:

2018

As at 
January 1

Credited 
(charged) to

statement
of earnings

Credited
(charged) to

other
comprehensive

income
Business

acquisitions
Exchange 

differences
As at 

December 31

$ $ $ $ $ $

Deferred income tax
assets

Deductible provisions
upon settlement 102.1 3.3 — 24.9 4.4 134.7

Tax loss carry forwards 22.6 1.9 — 1.5 (1.0) 25.0

Pension Plan 43.9 (0.5) (3.5) — 2.7 42.6

Deferred issuance-
related costs 3.3 (2.2) — — — 1.1

Property and
equipment 14.3 (1.2) — — 0.2 13.3

Other temporary
differences 25.3 (1.2) 0.2 14.3 2.2 40.8

211.5 0.1 (3.3) 40.7 8.5 257.5

Deferred income tax
liabilities

Costs and anticipated
profits in excess of
billings (92.2) 7.5 — 1.0 (0.7) (84.4)

Holdbacks (11.6) 6.9 — — (0.3) (5.0)

Property and
equipment (11.3) (0.4) — (4.2) (0.7) (16.6)

Intangible assets and
goodwill (68.1) 12.5 — (11.7) (3.7) (71.0)

Other temporary
differences (11.4) (17.5) (1.0) (6.9) (1.9) (38.7)

(194.6) 9.0 (1.0) (21.8) (7.3) (215.7)

Total 16.9 9.1 (4.3) 18.9 1.2 41.8
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2017

As at 
January 1

Credited 
(charged) to

statement
of earnings

Credited
(charged) to

other
comprehensive

income
Business

acquisitions
Exchange 

differences
As at 

December 31

$ $ $ $ $ $

Deferred income tax
assets

Deductible provisions
upon settlement 109.2 (11.5) — 7.1 (2.7) 102.1

Tax loss carry forwards 25.9 (5.0) — 1.5 0.2 22.6

Pension Plan 65.1 (18.7) (0.3) 0.3 (2.5) 43.9

Deferred issuance-
related costs 5.9 (2.6) — — — 3.3

Property and
equipment 4.5 1.7 — 7.6 0.5 14.3

Other temporary
differences 33.9 (11.8) 0.1 4.6 (1.5) 25.3

244.5 (47.9) (0.2) 21.1 (6.0) 211.5

Deferred income tax
liabilities

Costs and anticipated
profits in excess of
billings (80.3) (10.1) — (0.3) (1.5) (92.2)

Holdbacks (18.2) 5.8 — — 0.8 (11.6)

Property and
equipment (29.3) 17.9 — (0.9) 1.0 (11.3)

Intangible assets and
goodwill (91.5) 36.9 — (16.7) 3.2 (68.1)

Other temporary
differences (12.3) 0.2 0.9 (0.4) 0.2 (11.4)

(231.6) 50.7 0.9 (18.3) 3.7 (194.6)

Total 12.9 2.8 0.7 2.8 (2.3) 16.9

The deferred income taxes are presented as follows on the consolidated statements of financial position:

2018 2017

$ $

Deferred income tax assets 116.1 91.4

Deferred income tax (liabilities) (74.3) (74.5)

Net Deferred income tax assets/(liabilities) 41.8 16.9
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As at December 31, 2018, the Corporation recognized deferred income tax assets of $25.0 ($22.6 as at December 31, 2017) 
related to certain subsidiaries tax losses of the current and prior years. The deferred income tax assets are recognized, as the 
Corporation believes it is probable that taxable profits will be available in the future against which the tax loss carry 
forwards can be utilized.

As at December 31, 2018, the Corporation had $102.4 ($29.5 as at December 31, 2017) of unrecognized deferred income tax 
assets related to $341.1 ($113.3 as at December 31, 2017) of tax loss carry forwards, of which $246.9 ($42.1 as at December 31, 
2017) expire between 2019 and 2038 with the remainder having no expiry, and $116.2 ($5.5 as at December 31, 2017) of gross 
temporary differences with no expiry. The Corporation considers the recovery of those unrecognized deferred income tax 
assets as not probable.

A deferred tax liability relating to taxable temporary differences amounting to $385.0 as at December 31, 2018 ($198.0 as at 
December 31, 2017), associated with the undistributed earnings of subsidiaries, has not been recognized, as the Corporation 
controls the timing of the reversal of these temporary differences and does not expect they will reverse in the foreseeable 
future. Upon distribution of these earnings in the form of dividends or otherwise, the Corporation may be subject to 
corporate or withholding taxes.

24 DIVIDENDS 
The Corporation aims to declare and pay dividends on a quarterly basis to shareholders.  The total amount of dividends 
declared by the Corporation in 2018 was $156.0 or $1.50 per share.

Dividend reinvestment plan (DRIP)

Under the DRIP, the holders of common shares may elect to have cash dividends reinvested into additional common shares. 
The shares to be delivered can be purchased on the open market or issued from treasury at the discretion of Management. 
The shares issued from treasury can be issued at a discount of up to 5.0% of the applicable average market price. 

Following the payment of dividends declared, $77.4 was reinvested in 1,245,079 common shares under the DRIP.

On January 15, 2019, on the payment of the fourth quarter dividend, $19.6 was reinvested in 324,812 additional common 
shares under the DRIP.
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25 STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
     

 a) ADJUSTMENTS

2018 2017

$ $

Depreciation and amortization 194.4 168.8

Share of earnings of associates and joint-ventures (net
of tax) (0.8) (0.3)

Defined benefit pension scheme expense 14.3 6.6

Cash contribution to defined benefit pension schemes (12.2) (11.2)

Foreign exchange and non-cash movements 14.0 0.7

Other (38.6) (24.9)

171.1 139.7

  b) CHANGE IN NON-CASH WORKING CAPITAL ITEMS

2018 2017

$ $
Decrease (increase) in:

Trade, prepaid and other receivables (7.1) (59.4)

Costs and anticipated profits in excess of billings 94.9 (48.2)

Increase (decrease) in:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 26.0 86.4

Billings in excess of costs and anticipated profits 60.6 (16.6)

174.4 (37.8)
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 c) TRANSACTIONS ARISING FROM CASH FLOWS - LONG-TERM DEBTS

2018

$
Increase of debt Repayment of debt Total

        Credit facility 15,158.9 (14,879.5) 279.4

        Other long-term debts — (61.7) (61.7)

15,158.9 (14,941.2) 217.7

2017

$
Increase of debt Repayment of debt Total

         Credit facility 9,885.1 (9,804.2) 80.9
        Other long-term debts — (14.1) (14.1)

9,885.1 (9,818.3) 66.8
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26  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The Corporation controls and consolidates an entity when the Corporation is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns 
from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.  The table 
below list the Corporation's most significant subsidiaries.

Entity
Country of

incorporation
Interest

2018 2017
Parsons Brinckerhoff Holdings Inc. USA 100% 100%

WSP UK Limited England 100% 100%

WSP Canada Inc. Canada 100% 100%

WSP Sverige AB Sweden 100% 100%

WSP Australia Pty Ltd     Australia 100% 100%

WSP Canada Group Ltd Canada 100% 100%

WSP Asia Limited Hong Kong 100% 100%

Opus International Consultants Ltd New Zealand 100% 100%

WSP Consultancy Pte Ltd Singapore 100% 100%

WSP Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong 100% 100%

Key management compensation

Key management includes the President and Chief Executive Officer and the members of the GLT. The compensation paid or 
payable to key management is shown below:

2018 2017

$ $

Short-term employee benefits 21.9 14.7

Share-based awards 9.5 8.8

31.4 23.5

27 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  
FAIR VALUE 

Cash, trade and other receivables, costs and anticipated profits in excess of billings, accounts payable, dividends payable to 
shareholders, bank overdrafts, long-term debt related to credit facility, and other financial liabilities are financial 
instruments whose fair values approximate their carrying values due to their short-term maturity, variable interest rates or 
current market rates for instruments with fixed rates.
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The fair value hierarchy under which the Corporation’s financial instruments are valued is as follows: 

• Level 1 includes unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

• Level 2 includes inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the assets or liability, 
either directly or indirectly;

• Level 3 includes inputs for the assets or liability that are not based on observable market data. 

As at December 31, 2018, and 2017, other assets fair values are valued under Level 1. Foreign currency risk based financial 
instruments' fair values, notably foreign currency forward contracts and cross currency swap agreements, are valued under 
Level 2.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Corporation is exposed to credit risk, foreign currency risk, interest rate risk and liquidity risk. The following analyses 
provide a measurement of those risks as at December 31, 2018, and 2017.

CREDIT RISK

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract, 
leading to a financial loss.

Financial instruments which potentially subject the Corporation to significant credit risk consist principally of cash, trade 
and other receivables, and costs and anticipated profits in excess of billings. The Corporation’s maximum amount of credit 
risk exposure is limited to the carrying amount of these financial instruments, which is $3,129.4 as at December 31, 2018, 
and $2,533.2 as at December 31, 2017.

The Corporation’s cash is held with known financial institutions. Therefore, the Corporation considers the risk of non-
performance on these instruments to be minimal.

The Corporation’s credit risk is principally attributable to its trade receivables and costs and anticipated profits in excess of 
billings. The amounts disclosed in the consolidated statements of financial position are net of an allowance for expected 
credit loss, estimated by the Corporation’s Management and based, in part, on the age of the specific receivable balance and 
the current and expected collection trends. Generally, the Corporation does not require collateral or other security from 
customers for trade accounts receivable; however, credit is extended following an evaluation of creditworthiness. In 
addition, the Corporation performs ongoing credit reviews of all its customers and establishes an allowance for expected 
credit loss when the likelihood of collecting the account has significantly diminished. The Corporation believes that the 
credit risk of trade accounts receivable is limited. During the years ended December 31, 2018, and 2017, credit losses 
incurred for were not significant.

The Corporation mitigates its credit risk by providing services to diverse clients in various market sectors, countries and 
sectors of the economy.
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FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in foreign exchange rates.

The Corporation operates internationally and is exposed to currency risks arising from its operating activities denominated 
in US dollars, Sterling pound, Swedish krona, Australian dollars, Euros, New Zealand dollars, and other currencies as well as 
to its net assets in foreign operations. These risks are partially offset by purchases and operating expenses incurred in these 
currencies.

The Corporation has investments in foreign operations, whose net assets are exposed to foreign currency risk. This risk is 
partly offset through borrowings denominated in the relevant foreign currency. The exchange gains or losses on the net 
equity investment of these operations are reflected in the accumulated other comprehensive income account in 
shareholders’ equity, as part of the currency translation adjustment.

During the fourth quarter of 2018, the Corporation entered into cross currency swaps for a nominal amount of US$232.6 
million to hedge a portion of its US denominated debt at a US/CAD rate of 1.3502, a nominal amount of US$7.0 million at a 
GBP/US rate of 1.2727 and a nominal amount of US$59.6 million at a US/SEK rate of 9.0436.   The fair market value loss 
amounted to US$1.4 million and was recorded in the statement of earnings.  All cross currency swap agreements expire in 
the first quarter of 2019.

The Corporation also entered into foreign currency forward contracts and options strategies mainly to hedge the variability 
in the expected foreign currency exchange rate of certain currencies against the Canadian dollar. The net fair market value 
loss of these forward contracts and options amounted to US$4.6 million and was recorded in the consolidated statement of 
earnings.

Taking into account the amounts denominated in foreign currencies and presuming that all of the other variables remain 
unchanged, a fluctuation in exchange rates would have an impact on the Corporation’s net earnings. Management believes 
that a 10% change (10% in 2017) in exchange rates could be reasonably possible. 

The table below summarizes the impacts of a 10% weakening or strengthening in the exchange rates on the net earnings 
and statement of other comprehensive income:

2018

US
Dollar

Sterling
Pound

Swedish
Krona

Australian
Dollar

Net earnings 8.5 0.3 2.5 2.4

Other comprehensive income 52.5 1.1 3.8 0.3

2017

US
Dollar

Sterling
Pound

Swedish
Krona

Australian
Dollar

Net earnings 5.3 1.5 2.4 2.1

Other comprehensive income 4.6 1.7 1.1 5.8
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INTEREST RISK

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rates. The Corporation’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates 
primarily to its long-term debt and other non current financial liabilities with floating interest rates. This risk is partially 
offset by cash held at variable rates.

A 100 base point spread ("BPS") fluctuation in interest rates would not have a material impact on the Corporation’s 
consolidated net earnings.

LIQUIDITY RISK 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Corporation will encounter difficulties in meeting its obligations as they fall due. 

A centralized treasury function ensures that the Corporation maintains funding flexibility by assessing future cash flow 
expectations and by maintaining sufficient headroom on its committed borrowing facilities. Borrowing limits, cash 
restrictions and compliance with debt covenants are also taken into account.

The Corporation watches for liquidity risks arising from financial instruments on an ongoing basis. Management monitors 
the liquidity requirements to ensure it has sufficient cash to meet operational needs while maintaining sufficient headroom 
on its undrawn committed borrowing facilities at all times. WSP has access to committed lines of credit with banks 
(note 15).

The tables below present the contractual maturities of financial liabilities as at December 31, 2018, and 2017. The amounts 
disclosed are contractual undiscounted cash flows.

2018

Carrying 
amount

$

Contractual cash 
flows

$

Less than 
a year

$

Between 1 and 
2 years

$

More than 
2 years

$

Accounts payable
and accrued
liabilities,
including non-
current portion
of provisions 1,940.6 1,940.6 1,787.5 153.1 —

Dividends payable to
shareholders 39.2 39.2 39.2 — —

Long-term debts,
including current
portion 1,503.5 1,727.0 44.0 297.0 1,386.0

Financial liabilities,
including current
portion 21.2 22.3 15.1 7.2 —

3,504.5 3,729.1 1,885.8 457.3 1,386.0
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2017

Carrying 
amount

$

Contractual cash 
flows

$

Less than 
a year

$

Between 1 and 
2 years

$

More than 
2 years

$

Accounts payable
and accrued
liabilities,
including non-
current portion
of provisions 1,483.1 1,483.1 1,361.9 121.2 —

Dividends payable
to shareholders 38.7 38.7 38.7 — —

Long-term debts,
including
current portion 1,158.7 1,257.8 287.8 28.9 941.1

Financial liabilities,
including
current portion 71.2 73.0 45.8 18.2 9.0

2,751.7 2,852.6 1,734.2 168.3 950.1

As at December 31, 2018, the Corporation had unused credit facilities of $918.0 ($584.7 in 2017), net of outstanding letters of 
credit of $77.6 ($81.6 in 2017), and cash net of bank overdraft of $253.9 ($178.6 in 2017).

28 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
LEASES

The Corporation leases various office premises and equipment under operating lease agreements. The lease terms vary from 
six months to ten years, and the majority of lease agreements can be renewed at market rates. 

The lease expenditure included in the consolidated statements of earnings amounted to $217.8 for the year ended 
December 31, 2018 ($194.2 for the year ended December 31, 2017).

The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

2018 2017

$ $

No later than 1 year 253.0 187.0

Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years 778.4 713.8

Later than 5 years 391.6 242.0

1,423.0 1,142.8



WSP GLOBAL INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017
(in millions of Canadian dollars, except the number of shares and per share data and unless otherwise stated)

WSP

2018 Consolidated Financial Statements

Page 69

CONTINGENCIES

The Corporation is currently facing legal proceedings for work carried out in the normal course of its business. The 
Corporation takes out a professional liability insurance policy in order to manage the risks related to such proceedings. 
Based on advice and information provided by its legal advisers and on its experience in the settlement of similar 
proceedings, Management believes that the Corporation has accounted for sufficient provisions in that regard and that the 
final settlement should not exceed the insurance coverage significantly or should not have a material effect on the financial 
position or operating results of the Corporation.  

As a government contractor, the Corporation may be subject to laws and regulations that are more restrictive than those 
applicable to non-government contractors. Government scrutiny of contractors’ compliance with those laws and regulations 
through audits and investigations is inherent in government contracting, and, from time to time, Management receives 
inquiries and similar demands related to the Corporation's ongoing business with government entities. Since 2012, the 
Corporation has been the object of investigations in several regions within the Province of Québec. Such investigations have 
not given rise to any charges against the Corporation. During the course of 2017, the Corporation, in connection with the 
voluntary reimbursement program established pursuant to Bill 26, An Act to ensure mainly the recovery of amounts 
improperly paid as a result of fraud or fraudulent tactics in connection with public contracts, enacted in April 2015, settled 
with certain municipalities and satisfied its obligations under such settlements. In December 2018, the Corporation was 
made aware that the Office of the Syndic of the Ordre des ingénieurs du Québec had lodged a complaint against the vice- 
chairman, in his capacity as an engineer member of the Ordre des ingénieurs du Québec, relating to alleged omissions, 
negligence and other derogatory acts under the Code of Ethics of Engineers (Québec). Events referred to in the complaint 
overlap with the events at the source of the herein-mentioned investigations and settlements. The complaint is not directed 
or made against the Corporation. The Corporation is taking steps to address any other contingencies relating to the above 
but cannot predict at this time the final outcome, potential losses or amounts that may have to be reimbursed to any 
governmental authorities, if any, with respect to any investigation by such governmental authorities in respect of these 
facts, including the possibility that their scope may be broadened which could have an impact on its future results of 
operations.

On March 13, 2019, the Québec Superior Court approved a settlement between the Corporation, Canada’s Competition 
Bureau and Director of Public Prosecutions. As a result of the settlement, the Corporation will not face any prosecution in 
connection with the award of municipal infrastructure contracts in Québec between 2002 and 2011.

29 SEGMENT INFORMATION  

 (a) MAJOR CUSTOMERS

As at December 31, 2018, no individual customer represented more than 10% of the Corporation's consolidated revenues or  
trade receivables.

 (b) SEGMENTED INFORMAITON

The Corporation manages through four reportable segments, which are the following: Canada, Americas (USA and Latin 
America), EMEIA (Europe, Middle East, India and Africa) and APAC (Asia Pacific, comprising Asia, Australia and New 
Zealand).
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The Corporation's GLT assesses the performance of the reportable segments based on revenues, net revenues and adjusted 
EBITDA before Global Corporate costs. Adjusted EBITDA before Global Corporate costs excludes items such as business 
acquisition transaction and integration expenses, and Global Corporate costs, which the Corporation believes should not be 
considered when assessing the underlying financial performance of the reportable segments.  Global Corporate costs are 
expenses and salaries related to centralized functions, such as global finance, legal, human resources and technology teams, 
which are not allocated to segments. This measure also excludes the effects of financial expenses, depreciation, 
amortization and income taxes.

Sales between segments are carried out at arm's length and are eliminated upon consolidation.

The revenues reported to the GLT are measured in a similar manner as in the consolidated statements of earnings and 
exclude intersegmental revenues.

The tables below present the Corporation’s operations based on reportable segments.

2018

Canada Americas EMEIA APAC Total

Revenues 1,263.4 2,752.6 2,683.8 1,208.3 7,908.1

Less: Subconsultants and direct costs (209.8) (994.4) (491.7) (191.6) (1,887.5)

Net revenues 1,053.6 1,758.2 2,192.1 1,016.7 6,020.6

Adjusted EBITDA before Global Corporate costs 147.1 257.3 225.4 117.5 747.3

Global corporate costs (87.3)

Acquisition and integration costs (62.3)

Financial expenses (72.6)

Depreciation and amortization (194.4)

   Share of taxation and amortization of associates (1.4)

Earnings before income tax 329.3
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2017

Canada Americas EMEIA APAC Total

Revenues 1,180.4 2,528.5 2,373.5 859.8 6,942.2

Less: Subconsultants and direct costs (203.0) (878.0) (388.8) (115.8) (1,585.6)

Net revenues 977.4 1,650.5 1,984.7 744.0 5,356.6

Adjusted EBITDA before Global Corporate costs 120.6 220.2 197.0 76.4 614.2

Global corporate costs (59.0)

Acquisition and integration costs (28.4)

Financial expenses (41.1)

Depreciation and amortization (168.8)

   Share of taxation and amortization of associates (1.5)

Earnings before income tax 315.4

  (c) GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

The following revenues have been allocated to geographic regions based on the countries of operation of the Corporation.

2018 2017

$ $

United States 2,571.6 2,456.2

Canada 1,263.4 1,180.4

United Kingdom 1,244.7 1,004.2

Sweden 711.3 680.7

Australia 560.3 463.5

Asia 356.0 356.9

New Zealand 292.0 39.4

Others 908.8 760.9

7,908.1 6,942.2
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  The Property and equipment, goodwill and intangible assets are allocated in the following countries:

2018 2017

$ $

United States 1,723.6 1,221.4

Canada 1,009.8 1,032.0

United Kingdom 362.1 346.9

Sweden 274.9 272.3

New Zealand 245.7 234.5

Australia 120.1 102.3

Asia 91.5 89.0

Others 383.8 351.2

4,211.5 3,649.6
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